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Who We Are 1858-20181908-2018 +

Recognized for tradition and excellence, Banco 

BOCOM BBM is controlled by one of China’s five 

largest commercial banks, Bank of Communications, 

which owns 80% of its equity. Brazilian shareholders 

own the rest.

Always dedicated to delivering the best solutions to 

clients, our institution aims to meet the credit and 

financial service needs of corporations established in 

Brazil, as well as offering wealth management services 

for individuals and families.

We completed a key stage of our history in 2018, 

launching a new brand and celebrating other 

important achievements. Bank of Communications 

and Banco BOCOM BBM also commemorated 110 

and 160 years of activity since their respective 

foundations.

This was a year, therefore, in which we reinforced 

foundational values resulting from the integration of 

two century-old institutions: investing in the future, 

valuing the past.

Part of the BOCOM BBM team 3



Years Ending on 12/31
In R$ Million, unless otherwise indicated 2016 2017 2018

Financial Condition

Net Income 32 43 64

Shareholders’ Equity 574 575 601

Return on Average Equity 5.6% 7.5% 10.8%

Total Loan Portfolio* 2,171 3,668 4,408

Total Funding 2,964 4,085 4,897

Basel Index 21.3% 16.1% 14.5%

* Includes guarantees, sureties, avals, letters of credit and transactions with credit risk (issuance of debentures and promissory notes).

Financial  
Highlights

Expanded Credit Portfol io
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Shareholders’ Equity  & Basel Index
Delinquency Rate 
(Loans Rated E-H / Expanded Credit Portfolio)

Total Funding & Liquid Assets*

* Liquid Assets = Cash and Cash Equivalents + Short-term 
Interbank Investments (Funded Position, Investments in Interbank 
Deposits and Foreign Currency) + Fixed Income Securities (Not 
Considering Those Linked to Repo Transactions and Guarantees) + 
Variable Income Securities (Not Considering Fund Shares).

Service Revenues (% of the Total Revenues)*

* Gross Financial Income Before Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
+ Service Revenue + Result of Equity Pickup.
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Message from Management



razil faced several challenges in 2018. 

The economy was affected by the 

truckers’ movement in May, and global 

risk aversion drove 15% local currency 

depreciation against the US dollar. Last but by no 

means least, a presidential campaign polarized 

between two candidates with starkly contrasting 

economic policy platforms kept the level of 

uncertainty high for months on end. With 2018 in 

the rear mirror, what to expect going forward?

The headwinds that braked economic activity in 

2018 have now become weaker, allowing room for 

more growth in 2019. The political and economic 

uncertainties are dissipating, given that the 

composition of the new government’s economic 

team points to a commitment to a liberal and 

reformist agenda.

Monetary policy remains stimulative, household 

and corporate indebtedness has diminished, and 

the banks’ leverage allows them to support the 

recovery. We expect GDP growth to accelerate to 

2.6% in 2019, from 1.2% in the previous year.

Inflation reached 3.7% in 2018, below the 4.5% 

target. The inflation outlook remains positive, 

since the high output gap and anchored price 

expectations will continue to contain inflationary 

pressure despite stronger growth. Our projection 

for inflation in 2019 is 3.8%, below the target for 

the third consecutive year.

The Central Bank of Brazil has left its policy rate 

(Selic) on hold since March 2018 and is expected 

to continue doing so until end-2019. As already 

noted, the high output gap will enable economic 

growth to accelerate without inflationary pressure.

A number of longstanding challenges remain. 

The fiscal adjustment has only just begun, and 

an ambitious reform of the pension system is 

necessary to assure compliance with the public 

spending cap and stabilize the national debt in the 

medium term.

The cabinet appointed by President Jair Bolsonaro 

has scant links to the political forces represented 

in a fragmented Congress, leading some analysts 

to quest ion the government ’s  capacity to 

guarantee the stable majority required to pass 

the reform agenda.

There are also doubts about the robustness of the 

global economic outlook. The United States could 

be heading for a significant slowdown in 2019 as 

the impact of the fiscal stimulus diminishes and 

tighter financial conditions begin to bite. The 

European Union is experiencing very slow growth, 

and China is endeavoring to maintain growth 

despite the climate of trade conflicts.

In sum, the economic outlook for Brazil is benign, 

with growth likely to accelerate amid low inflation 

and stable rates. However, maintenance of this 

outlook depends on progress with the reform agenda 

and the pace of growth in China, Europe and the US.
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Organization Chart

Organizational  
Structure
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Founded in 1908 with the aim of boosting 
Chinese industry. It is one of the largest 
commercial banks in China and the world.

Established in 1858 in the city of Salvador with 
the name Banco da Bahia, it focused on the 
extension of credit to agricultural producers.

The aquisition process of 80% of Banco BBM’s equity by Bank of 
Communications is concluded, giving rise to Banco BOCOM BBM S.A.

The bank starts using the name Banco BOCOM BBM S.A.

It becomes a currency issuer and 
remains so for 33 years.

1909

It becomes one of the only Brazilian 
banks authorized to issue currency.1859

It becomes a multiple bank and
changes its name to Banco BBM S.A.1998

It stands out as a commercial bank 
under Clemente Mariani’s leadership.1942

It makes the strategic decision to devote 
itself to the wholesale segment.1973

It becomes the only major Chinese 
commercial bank to be headquartered 

in Shanghai among the top five.
1987

It is the first large Chinese
commercial bank to list on the Hong 

Kong Stock Exchange.
2005

It is the first large Chinese commercial
bank to list simultaneously on the Hong 

Kong and Shanghai Stock Exchanges.

2007

2016

2018

History
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Our Business



Expanded Credit Portfol io – Corporate and Large Corporate (R$ Mil l ion) 

h e  e x p a n d e d  c r e d i t  p o r t f o l i o 

c o m p r i s i n g  l o a n s ,  g u a r a n t e e s 

extended in the form of surety bonds 

and  ava l s ,  p re - sh ipment  expor t 

f inancing and corporate bonds ended 2018 

with a balance of R$ 4,408 mill ion, an increase 

of 20% in 12 months.

Corporate 

Large Corporate 

Others

Total Expanded
Credit Portfolio

2,171

3,668

4,408

DEC/16

1,552 

 614 

DEC/17

2,496

1,134 

DEC/18

2,965

1,401 

Corporate Credit 
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Total Expanded Credit Portfol io

Breakdown by Sector – DEC/18

Sugar and Ethanol

Utilities (Energy)

Agriculture

Civil Construction

Retail

Foods

Transportation and Logistics

Others

15%

10%

9%

7%
6%6%5%

42%

* CATEGORIA SEM TRADUÇAO NA TABELA

Total Expanded Credit Portfol io

Breakdown by Transaction – DEC/18

16%

12%

43%

22%

7% 8%

17%

39%

30%

6%

Trade Finance 

Export Credit Notes

Working Capital

Guarantees Issued and Others

Corporate Securities
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* Expanded credit operations, classified according to the Central Bank of Brazil’s 2.682/99 Resolution.

** The bank had no loans rated D on December 31, 2018.

CORPORATE

At the end of 2018, the credit portfolio for companies 

in the Corporate segment displayed significant 

growth of 19%, reaching R$ 2,965 million.

Revenue rose from R$ 2,496 million to R$ 2,965 

mil l ion,  mainly owing to active monitoring 

of borrowers’ financial health, as well as our 

recognized efficiency in debt recovery, which kept 

both loan delinquency and loan loss allowance 

expenses under control .  This  revenue does 

not include income from f ines,  late interest 

charges and service fees.

LARGE CORPORATE

In the Large Corporate segment (for companies with 

annual sales in excess of R$ 3 billion), the balance of 

the credit portfolio totaled R$ 1,400 million at the 

end of December 2018, growing 23.5% in 12 months.

This increase in the portfolio largely reflected (i) 

a focus on low-risk borrowers, both Brazilian and 

Chinese, and (ii) better funding conditions in the 

period, with maturities and costs more accurately 

tailored to the clients’ needs.

CHINA CORPORATE DESK

Lending to Chinese companies that operate in Brazil.

Loans and Guarantees Issued Portfol io*

Risk Rates – DEC/18**

AA

A

B

C

(E-H)

41%

37%

18%

3%

1%
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* In Dec/18, the outstanding balance that had some kind of collateral was 52.14%.

Collaterals*

Loans and Guarantees Issued – Dec/18

Allowances for Loan Losses

DEC/16 DEC/17 DEC/18

3.6%

2.4%

1.2%

 
Receivables

Inventories/Crops

Assignment of Real Estate

80%

13%

7%

In the Large Corporate 

segment (for companies  

with annual sales in excess  

of R$ 3 billion), the balance 

of the credit portfolio totaled 

R$ 1,400 million at the end 

of December 2018, growing 

23.5% in 12 months. Other Services

Total

Structuring Commission

Guarantees Fees

Management and Performance Fees
of Investment Funds

DEC/16 DEC/17 DEC/18

18

43

64

11

10

10

12

21
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14

15

7

4

5
2
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OCOM BBM offers clients financial 

services that include debt structuring 

and pricing of derivatives and other 

products.

STRUCTURING

Banco BOCOM BBM’s Structured Solutions 

Department acts alongside Corporate Credit to 

identify opportunities for debt structuring, and 

to take advantage of scale economies in business 

prospecting and client relationships.

Financial Services

Income from Financial Services (by Type of Service) 

(R$ Mil l ion)

Other Services

Total

Structuring Commission

Guarantees Fees

Management and Performance Fees
of Investment Funds
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TREASURY FOR CLIENTS

The Treasury for  Cl ients team works with 

Corporate Credit on the structuring and pricing 

of derivatives and other products that address 

the market risks to which the client’s assets and 

liabilities are exposed.

The product offering includes derivatives for 

protection against the following risks:

• Exchange-rate variation; 

• Interest rates; 

• Price indices.

Treasury for Clients also offers various types of 

foreign-exchange service.

A wide array of instruments and securitization 

structures available on the Brazilian and international 

markets is used, from the structuring of:

• Debentures;

• Promissory notes;

• Mortgage-backed securities (CRIs);

• Agribusiness receivables certificates (CRAs); and

• Receivables investment funds (FIDCs)

to private deals involving:

• Bank credit notes (CCBs);

• Export prepayments (PPEs); and

• Foreign borrowings in compliance with Law 4131.

Banco BOCOM BBM participated in the coordination 

of issues totaling BRL 1,470 million in 2018.

Capital Market: Coordination of 
Fixed Income Issues 

(R$ Mil l ion)

Service Revenues 

(% of the Total Revenues)*

DEC/16 DEC/17 

17.4%

10.5%

DEC/18

21.2%

* Total Revenue: Gross Financial Income Before Allowance for 
Doubtful Accounts + Service Revenue + Result of Equity Pickup.

DEC/17DEC/16

Other Banks

Coordinated by BOCOM BBM

Total Amount

160

114

402

150274

552

1,470

DEC/18

845

625
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anco BOCOM BBM’s Wealth Management 

Area uses constantly updated tools to 

provide financial advice and wealth 

management services to high net worth 

clients, offering diversified solutions on an open 

platform in accordance with their long-term goals. 

It strives to identify points of connection between 

the client’s lifecycle and the dynamics of market 

cycles. Permanent investment in the technological 

platform enables BOCOM BBM Wealth Management 

to offer differentiated services, customized reports 

and efficient financial planning. 

Through its open platform, Wealth Management 

offers clients portfolio diversification through 

partners previously approved in accordance with 

best governance practice. We pursue strong returns 

combined with preservation of capital. Permanent 

development of risk control systems, thorough 

internal controls and emphasis on transparency in 

our relationships with clients are also key features 

of this operation. 

In addition to its own vast know-how in asset 

allocation, the Wealth Management team works 

closely with other areas of the bank such as 

Legal, Products, Treasury, Equity Analysis and 

Macroeconomic Research, tailoring solutions to each 

client’s needs. To meet requirements that go beyond 

the management of a client’s financial portfolio, 

we have partnerships with renowned law firms and 

leading auditors, accountants and consultants. 

Our scope ranges from liquid assets to other 

aspects of the client’s personal and financial 

affairs, including succession and family planning. 

Wealth Management

Permanent  inves tment 

in  the  technological 

p lat form enables  BOCOM 

BBM Weal th  Management 

to  of fer  d i f ferent ia ted 

serv ices ,  cus tomized 

reports  and ef f ic ient 

f inancial  p lanning.
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We focus on individuals or families, both Brazilian and 

foreign, whether their wealth is consolidated or still 

under construction. These clients are personally cared 

for by a team of trained and certified professionals 

dedicated to understanding the most suitable 

profile and allocation for each individual, taking into 

consideration risk tolerance, liquidity, cash generation 

and wealth size. Our strategy presupposes dynamic 

but also sustainable growth of the portfolios we 

manage. We ended 2018 with R$ 7,100 million in 

total assets under management. Our solutions are 

organized in the form of exclusive/restricted funds 

or as investments directly held by the individual 

concerned. Allocation is distributed across funds, 

fixed-income assets and structured products offered 

by BOCOM BBM and other approved institutions.

Our s t rategy presupposes 

dynamic  but  a l so 

sus ta inable  growth of  

the  port fo l ios  we manage. 

We ended 2018 wi th  

R$ 7,100 mi l l ion in  to ta l 

assets  under  management .

Assets under Advisory

(R$ Bil l ion)

DEC/16 DEC/17 DEC/18

3.7 

5.4

7.1
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Partnerships to manage
consolidated equity
of the economic group

   M&A and Audit

   Income tax

   Succession planning

   Real estate purchasing,
in Brazil and abroad,
including mortgages

   Social security

Use of Banco BOCOM BBM’s structure

   Corporate treasury

   Products

   Macroeconomic research

   Analysis of companies

   Credit structuring

   Account for Non Resident Investors 
   (res. 4.373)

Portfolio management team

   Risk analysis

   Suitability control

   Market follow-up

   Management of exclusive funds

   Portfolio allocation

Main contact between the Bank
and the client

   Understanding client profile 
   and needs

   Integration with BOCOM BBM’s
   products and services

Operational support to both
the Banker and the client

   Transactions

   Registration

   CRM monitoring

   Customer service

Client Support

Family O�ce Services Banco BOCOM BBM Platform 

Banker Asset Allocation

B
A

N
C

O
 

B
O

C
O

M
 B

B
M

 P
L

A
T

F
O

R
M

Wealth Management Structure
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Funding and  
Institutional Relations



n December 2018, the balance of funding 

totaled R$ 4,897 million, growing 19,8% in 

12 months due to expansion of the credit 

portfolio in the period.

We maintained our policy of prudent liquidity 

management, enhancing and adjusting our funding 

sources throughout the year. The top performer was 

Wealth Management, which contributed 31% of total 

funding in 2018.

DEC/16 DEC/17 DEC/18

Funding Source

Real Estate Credit Bills (LCIs),  

Agribusiness Credit Bills (LCAs)
715 1,260 1,444

Financial Bills (LFs) 481 1,175 1,494

Bank of Communications 232 772 911

Term Deposits 910 418 609

External Lines* 162 96 203

Demand Deposits 27 88 115

Interbank Deposits 108 19 2

Other 331 257 119

TOTAL FUNDING 2,966 4,085 4,897

In R$ Million, unless otherwise indicated

* Excluding Amounts for Bank of Communications.
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With regard to liquidity, free cash flow is managed 

very conservatively and is sufficient to cover funding 

completely with daily liquidity. 

As for the product mix, management increased the 

share of more stable funding instruments such as 

LFs, LCIs and LCAs, improving the profile of market 

funding, which accounted for almost 60% of total 

funding in December 2018 (R$ 2,900 million).

The profile of our funding lines continued to 

improve in 2018. In October Fitch announced that 

it had decided to maintain its highest long-term 

national scale rating AAA (bra) for Banco BOCOM 

S.A., and to award global scale ratings BB for foreign 

currency and BB+ for local currency. In addition, 

Moody’s reaffirmed its top national scale rating 

Aaa.br in May. Funding cost fell significantly in the 

period thanks to these excellent ratings.

The funding portfolio therefore remains suitably 

diversified. The institution has access to local and 

foreign markets on competitive terms and comfortable 

maturities compared with its asset profile.

The funding port fo l io 

therefore  remains  

su i tably  d ivers i f ied.  

The ins t i tu t ion has  access 

to  local  and foreign 

markets  on compet i t ive 

terms and comfortable 

matur i t ies  compared wi th 

i t s  asset  prof i le .
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* Liquid Assets = Cash and Cash Equivalents + Short-term Interbank Investments (Funded Position, Investments in Interbank 
Deposits and Foreign Currency) + Fixed Income Securities (Not Considering Those Linked to Repo Transactions and 
Guarantees) + Variable Income Securities (Not Considering Fund Shares).

Funding by Type of Investor

(R$ Mil l ion)

Liquid Assets (R$ Million) Total Funding (R$ Million) Liquid Assets/Total Funding
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Liquid Assets* & Total Funding

DEC/16 DEC/17

Institutional Investors

Wealth Management

BoCom

Corporate

Total Funding
1,487 1,638 

1,088 
1,377 

772 

298 

261 

128 

2,964

4,085

DEC/18

2,043 

1,536 

950

368

4,897
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Risk Management



OCOM BBM has long tradition in 

risk management exce l l ence ,  w i th 

continuous development throughout 

the past 20 years of  proprietary 

methodologies for risk management, always 

positioned in the cutting edge of the industry.

Strong Culture of 
Risk Management is  
a Core Principle of  
our Institution, People 
and Processes
The core principle of our business model is an 

enterprisewide risk management approach. We 

seek high risk adjusted returns and conservative 

capital allocation in our activities. The Bank strongly 

emphasizes a comprehensive and sound structure 

of monitoring, assessment, and management of 

all risks borne in its operations. Banco BOCOM 

BBM’s approach to risk management is based on 

the continuous development and application of 

proprietary state of the art financial models adapted 

to the Brazilian business environment and strongly 

supported by Senior Management. Risk models and 

parameters are incorporated in our governance and 

business decision processes, such as funding, credit 

loan origination and credit portfolio management. 

As a result, economic capital is efficiently allocated 

in our activities.

Risk models  and parameters 

are  incorporated in  our 

governance and bus iness 

dec i s ion processes ,  such 

as  funding,  credi t  loan 

or ig inat ion and credi t 

por t fo l io  management .  

As  a  resul t ,  economic 

capi ta l  i s  e f f i c ient ly 

a l located in  our  ac t iv i t ies .
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MARKET RISK

Banco BOCOM BBM was one of the pioneer banks 

in quantifying risk in the Brazilian market, having 

developed in 1997 a proprietary system which ended 

up being used as reference in the industry. The 

structure for market risk management comprises 

the following agents, with their respective duties: 

a) Executive Committee, responsible for reviewing 

policies and suggesting operating limits for risk 

management, being subject to approval of the 

Board of Directors, at least once a year; b) Board 

of Directors, responsible for approving the policies 

and risk limits, at least once a year; c) Market Risk 

area, reporting to Risk director, responsible for 

identifying, measuring, monitoring, and reporting the 

institution’s market risk to the Executive Committee, 

thus ensuring the effective compliance with the 

market risk management policy, as well as ensuring 

that the operating limits are being followed; d) 

Pricing area, which among other duties defines the 

models and sources of prices used in marking to 

market of traded products, independently from the 

management areas; and e) Internal Audit, responsible 

for ensuring the adequacy of procedures and the 

consistency between the market risk management 

policies and the structure in fact implemented. 

The market risk is monitored through the daily 

calculation of Value at Risk (VaR), a statistical tool 

which measures the potential loss of the Institution 

with a given level of confidence for a given 

investment horizon. A VaR limit is stipulated and 

may be allocated by the Treasury director among 

the various risk factors. The calculation model of the 

VaR is submitted to periodic backtesting. In addition 

to that, the Risk Committee, which is independent 

from the management areas, quarterly defines the 

scenarios of stress to be analyzed on a daily basis.

CREDIT RISK

Banco BOCOM BBM has a credit risk management 

structure comprising of the following agents 

and their respective duties: a) Credit Committee, 

responsible for defining credit limits of economic 

groups and for the monitoring and consolidated 

assessing of the portfolio, including its level of 

concentration and risk. It is also responsible for 

stipulating the term to solve credit operations 

in default or with any guarantee deterioration 

and for deciding the start of judicial collection, 

if necessary; b) Board of Directors, responsible 

for approving the policies and risk limits, at least 

once a year; c) Credit Risk, area reporting to the 

Risk director, responsible for concentrating and 

assessing information related to individual credit 

risk per operation and the consolidated risk of 

the portfolio in order to ensure that the operating 

limits are followed, and for disclosing reports to 

assist the decision-making process of credit limits 

approved by the Credit Committee. The Risk area 

is also responsible for previously assessing new 

operating modalities in relation to credit risk; d) 

the Credit Analysis area, responsible for assessing 

the credit risk of economic groups with which the 

Bank holds or intends to hold credit relations; e) 

Internal Audit, which carries out regular audits in 

business units and in the Bank credit processes; f) 

Legal area, responsible for analyzing the contracts 

made between BOCOM BBM and clients, as well 

as coordinating the actions aiming at recovering 

credit or protecting the rights of BOCOM BBM; and 

g) Contract Control area, responsible for verifying 

the compliance of operations with parameters set 

in the Credit Limit Proposal (PLC), as well as the 

correct establishment of collateral. It must also issue 

contracts to be signed between BOCOM BBM and 

the client.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

Banco BOCOM BBM’s goal with regard to liquidity is 

to ensure that at all times it has enough cash to honor 

its liabilities and all other covenants. Liquidity Risk 

is responsible for monitoring the free cash position 

in order to guarantee the continuity of operations in 

the event of severe stress, while complying with the 

limits and guidelines set by the Risk Committee and 

approved by the Board of Directors.

Liquid risk management is based on projections of 

the institution’s cash flow under various scenarios 

for the evolution of funding, lending and treasury 

operations. The analysis of cash flow takes into 

account (a) each client’s implicit risk, (b) any 

additional cash required for compliance with reserve 

requirements at the Central Bank of Brazil, (c) 

adjustments to derivatives, and (d) other obligations. 

The general principle is to ensure that commitments 

are aligned with the institution’s equity and with its 

funding, lending and treasury policies.

Banco BOCOM BBM has a liquidity risk management 

structure comprising of the following agents, and 

their respective duties: a) Liquidity Risk area, 

reporting to the Risk director, responsible for 

centralizing and measuring the information related 

to liquidity risk management, for ensuring that 

operating limits are followed, and for disclosing 

reports to assist in the decision-making process 

specific to liquidity risk; and b) Internal Audit, 

responsible for ensuring the adequacy of procedures 

and the consistency between the liquidity risk 

management policies and the implemented structure 

in effect.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Banco BOCOM BBM has an operational risk 

management structure in accordance with the 

best market practices and in compliance with the 

rules in effect. Such structure is enforced in the 

document ”Operational Risk Management Policy”, 

which defines the methodology and management 

process, the roles and accountabil it ies, the 

categories, procedures for documentation and 

information storage, in addition to the disclosure 

process which ensures the transparency of 

management activities. The Operational Risk area 

is an organization unit, separated from Internal Audit 

and under responsibility of the Risk and Internal 

Controls director. The area is responsible for acting 

jointly with other components of the structure with 

the purpose of ensuring compliance within the 

guidelines set forth in such Policy.
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Corporate Governance  
and People 



ue to a solid and transparent governance 

structure, based on the correct incentives, 

the executives are strongly committed to 

the activities affected by their decisions, 

both in the short and long term, thus minimizing 

the conflicts of interest among business units, 

executives, and shareholders.

Banco BOCOM BBM’s corporate governance model is 

based on two main pillars: the executives’ compensation 

policy and the structure of management committees. A 

significant share of the officers’ annual compensation 

is withheld and subjected to future income variations, 

thus obtaining the right incentives for generation and 

preservation of value in the long term.

WeeklyFortnightlyMonthlyQuarterlyAnnual When Convened

Executive Committee

Board Meeting

Operational Risk
and Internal

Controls
Committee

Compliance Committee Risk Committee

Shareholders' Meeting

Credit
Committee

Wealth 
Management
Committee

Product
Committee

HR
Committee

Regulatory
Committee

Financial
Committee

Administrative
Committee
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Shareholders’ Meeting
The higher decision-making body of the Institution, 

that meets at least once a year.

Board of Directors
As the bank’s quarterly strategic decision-making 

forum, the Board of Directors comprises four 

representatives of the controlling shareholder and 

one representative of minority shareholders.

Proposals drafted by the Executive Committee 

involving matters that must be approved by the 

Board of Directors for regulatory or corporate 

legal reasons are reviewed by the Board for a 

final decision or for submission to the General 

Shareholder Meeting.

Management Committees
All bank policies are defined by senior management 

through a committee structure. The committees 

have substantial autonomy, and their decisions are 

reported or in some cases submitted to the Executive 

Committee and later to the Board of Directors for 

approval according to reporting lines. This structure 

assures coherent and responsible decisions aligned 

with the bank’s objectives and culture.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

It meets on a weekly basis and is responsible for the 

proposal, deliberation, and escalation of the main 

business decisions, in addition to monitoring the 

Bank’s activities. The Committee is also responsible 

for determining the corporate governance structure 

to be implemented in the Company and approving 

the creation of special committees not provided 

in the Bylaws.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

It meets on a quarterly basis or on demand, in order 

to approve the annual compliance program, present 

regulatory requests, discuss compliance issues, 

and define the guidelines for money laundering 

prevention. The committee considers the cases 

related to this subject, enabling the issuance of 

a final opinion (whether or not favorable) on the 

indication of a suspicious activity to the regulatory 

bodies. The committee is comprised of the Executive 

Committee coordinator and Compliance director, 

Legal director, Human Resources director as well 

as Legal and Compliance members.

The committee comprises the Chair of the 

Executive Committee, the heads of Compliance 

and Legal, the CRO and CFO, and representatives 

of the Compliance and Legal Departments.

RISK COMMITTEE

It meets on a quarterly basis or whenever there are 

significant changes to the business environment 

in order to discuss and monitor the main sources 

of market risk, credit, and liquidity. It analyzes and 

defines stress scenarios, in addition to validating 

quantitative models used for the calculation of risk 

measures. The committee is comprised of the 

Executive Committee coordinator, directors responsible 

for Risk, Research, Middle and Back Office areas, 

and Risk members.
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WEALTH MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

It meets monthly to discuss and suggest to the  

Executive Committee actions for the development 

of the Wealth Management area, in accordance with 

the Bank’s business plan. It monitors the market and 

informs all participants on relevant issues that may 

interfere positively or negatively in the business.  

The committee comprises at least three statutory 

directors, representatives of Wealth Management, 

and a representative of Compliance.

CREDIT COMMITTEE

The credit transactions are assessed in weekly  

committees with the purpose of analyzing and 

keeping portfolio with solid transactions and good 

risk/return ratios. The credit capacity of each debtor  

together with the collateral are assessed using 

qualitative and quantitative proprietary models 

applied to a large database with information  

accumulated throughout our extensive experience 

in the credit market.

The Bank’s financial counterparties are assessed 

in a specific Credit Committee with a minimum 

halfyearly frequency when all maximum allowed 

exposures are defined.

The committee comprises of Executive Committee 

coordinator, Credit directors, directors responsible 

for Risk, Research, Middle and Back Office areas, 

two members of the Board of Directors, and agents 

of Corporate Credit, Credit Analysis, Corporate  

Credit Control, Risk, Legal, Compliance, in addition 

to the Commercial Managers responsible for such 

analysis. The directors and the members of the 

board of directors have individually veto powers.

PRODUCT COMMITTEE

The main purpose of the committee is to identify 

business opportunities, its economic feasibility,  

in addition to analyzing risks, and legal and  

operating aspects of new and existing products.

The committee does not have a fixed meeting calendar 

but meets whenever decisions need to be made about 

products. It comprises the heads of Products, Risk, 

Research and Middle & Back Office, the manager 

and coordinator of Products, and the managers of 

Legal, Compliance and Accounting & Tax Control. 

New products, once approved by this committee, are 

submitted to the Executive Committee.

HR COMMITTEE

It meets on a fortnightly basis to address issues 

associated with compensation, recruiting, training, 

and other subjects relevant to human resources.

REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Meets monthly for a systematic review of regulatory  

issues and their impact on the bank’s activities. 

The committee is comprised of directors responsible  

for Risk, Research, Legal, Middle and Back Office areas  

and members of the Legal,  Accounting/Tax 

Control, Products, and Compliance areas.
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The commit tees  have 

subs tant ia l  autonomy,  

and their  dec i s ions  are 

reported or  in  some cases 

submit ted to  the  Execut ive 

Commit tee  and la ter  to  

the  Board of  Direc tors  for 

approval  according to 

report ing l ines .  This 

s t ructure  assures  coherent 

and respons ible  dec i s ions 

a l igned wi th  the  bank’s 

objec t ives  and cul ture.

FINANCIAL COMMITTEE

The Financial Committee meets every week to 

discuss the economic and political outlook, and 

oversee the trades performed by the Client Desk 

and the ALM activities Corporate Treasury. Its 

members are the Chair of the Executive Committee, 

other directors of the bank, and the managers of 

Macro Research, Client Trading, Corporate Treasury, 

Risk, IT, and Products.

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

This committee meets once a month. Its remit is to 

manage the budget and administrative costs, assess 

projects, and deal with other administrative matters. 

Its members are the CRO, the heads of Credit 

Analysis, Structured Solutions, Legal and Products, 

and representatives of Administration, Credit 

Control, Accounting & Tax Control, Treasury & 

Settlement Control, Managerial Control, Compliance, 

Human Resources and IT.

OPERATIONAL RISK AND INTERNAL 

CONTROLS COMMITTEE

Meets monthly to execute the Risk Committee’s 

directive regarding the management of operational 

risk and internal controls.

The committee comprises the CRO, the heads of 

Credit Analysis, Structured Solutions, Legal and 

Products, and representatives of Risk, Internal 

Control, Credit Control, Accounting & Tax Control, 

Treasury & Sett lement Control ,  Managerial 

Control, Compliance, Human Resources, IT and 

Wealth Management.
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Banco BOCOM BBM at t rac t s 

people  who seek a 

dynamic,  meri tocrat ic 

work environment  that 

enables  them to  develop 

both in te l lec tual ly 

and f inancial ly.

anco BOCOM BBM is a talent qualification 

and identification pool which values 

the systematic search for top-notch 

knowledge and favors people who want 

to reach their professional ambitions, adding value 

to the company. 

Its culture provides ideal conditions for practical 

learning by facilitating direct contact with the 

day-to-day dynamics of the financial markets 

based on a broad exchange of knowledge in an 

environment characterized by highly qualified staff 

and integration of young teams with professionals 

who have vast experience in the Brazilian and 

global markets.

Banco BOCOM BBM attracts people who seek a 

dynamic, meritocratic work environment that enables 

them to develop both intellectually and financially.

People

PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

Professional development is closely followed by 

the managers of the areas and the possibility of 

growth is one of the main factors of motivation and 

mutual commitment between Banco BOCOM BBM  

and its team. 

The performance of all employees and interns is 

analyzed based on a performance assessment policy  

which aligns the history of professional growth of 

its employees to the long-term performance of the 

company. The compensation includes a variable  

halfyearly bonus coupled to individual performance.

33



Academic Profi le

High School

Higher Education

Graduate Degree

29.8%

8.2%
62.0%

ATTRACTING HIGHLY  

QUALIFIED PROFESSIONALS

Banco BOCOM BBM, always aiming at seeking 

the best talents, liaises closely and directly with 

academic institutions, carrying out activities in the 

best universities of the country and investing in the 

identification and qualification of professional talents. 

As an incentive for development, it encourages and  

supports projects through partnerships with 

universities of excellence, offering undergraduate 

and graduate scholarships, besides awarding 

dissertations and thesis.
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Beginning of Career in the Financial Sector at BOCOM BBM

Managing Director

General Manager

Analyst/Coordinator

Relationship Manager

Sta�

83%

67%

61%

42%

9%

Working Period in the Financial Market (Years)

Managing Director

General Manager

Sta�

Relationship Manager

Analyst/Coordinator

14

10

8

5

5
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n Banco BOCOM BBM’s view, rating 

agencies’ ratings are an important 

source of transparent and independent 

assessment of the quality of our credit.

Moody’s Investors Service reaffirmed the ratings of 

Banco BOCOM BBM on May 3, 2018. On a global 

scale, “Ba1” rating was assigned to our senior 

unsecured local currency debts, with a notch above 

the sovereign rating (“Ba2”) and stable perspective. 

In the national scale Banco BOCOM BBM was rated 

as “Aaa.br”, the best possible credit rating in this 

category.

In addition, on October 19, 2018, the rating process 

was completed by Fitch. Nationwide was awarded 

the long-term rating “AAA (bra)”, the highest 

possible rating in this category. On a global scale, 

long-term issuer default ratings (IDRs) “BB” and 

“BB+” were assigned in foreign currency and local 

currency respectively, being above the sovereign 

rating (“BB-”). The perspective for these ratings 

is stable.

Credit Rating
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BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

In R$ thousand

Note
Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Current assets  3,345,385  2,364,487 

Cash and cash equivalents 4  67,922  14,501 

Cash  3  – 

Free reserves  385  157 

Funds in foreign currency  67,534  14,344 

Short-term interbank investments 5  1,020,296  355,776 

Open market investments 4  919,766  200,028 

Interbank deposits  3,466  – 

Investments in foreign currencies 4  97,064  155,748 

Marketable securities and derivative financial instruments 6  188,976  111,068 

Bank portfolio  57,378  82,425 

Subject to repurchase agreements  1,575  3,624 

Derivative financial instruments  21,823  8,523 

Linked to guarantees given  108,200  16,496 

Interbank accounts  1,275  1,606 

Deposits – Central Bank of Brazil  1,252  1,387 

Correspondent banks  23  219 

Loan transactions 7  1,625,860  1,212,696 

Discounted securities and loans  826,588  687,655 

Financing  458,727  337,642 

Rural and agroindustrial financing  362,837  225,348 

Allowance for loans  (22,293)  (37,949)

Other receivables  400,932  630,558 

Foreign exchange portfolio 8  333,525  559,146 

Unearned income  4,566  3,411 

Trading and brokerage  1,700  – 

Honoured guarantee and surety 7  –  19,954 

Sundry 14  29,755  17,818 

Tax credits 24  37,607  48,999 

Allowance for other receivables 7  (6,221)  (18,770)

Other assets 15  40,124  38,283 

See accompanying notes.
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BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

In R$ thousand

Note Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Noncurrent assets

Long-term assets  2,935,282  2,604,579 

Short-term interbank investments 5  –  3,258 

Interbank deposits  –  3,258 

Marketable securities and derivative financial instruments 6  1,251,243  1,323,431 

Bank portfolio  426,135  987,668 

Linked to repurchase agreements  606,326  100,396 

Derivative financial instruments  10,949  1,727 

Linked to guarantees given  207,833  233,640 

Loan transactions 7  1,594,420  1,197,301 

Discounted securities and loans  910,100  711,223 

Financing  396,968  217,707 

Rural and agroindustrial financing  305,080  291,090 

Allowance for loans  (17,728)  (22,719)

Other receivables  89,620  80,589 

Unearned income  2,329  1,585 

Sundry 14  55,267  51,968 

Tax credits 24  32,732  27,037 

Allowance for other receivables 7  (708)  – 

Permanent assets  16,895  7,122 

Investments  172  – 

Other investments  2,800  2,628 

Provision for losses  (2,628)  (2,628)

Property and equipment in use  5,557  4,101 

Intangible assets  11,166  3,021 

Total assets 6,297,562 4,976,189 

See accompanying notes.
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LIABILITIES

In R$ thousand

Note
Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Current liabilities  3,503,090  2,539,435 

Deposits 10  793,656  740,271 

Demand deposits  115,372  87,885 

Interbank deposits  2,265  18,040 

Time deposits  676,019  634,346 

Repurchase agreements 11  596,084  103,846 

Bank portfolio  596,084  103,846 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities 12  1,697,665  1,179,879 

Liabilities from issue of agribusiness credit bills  998,810  855,544 

Liabilities from issue of credit bills  641,831  292,284 

Liabilities from issue of real estate credit bills  57,024  32,051 

Interbranch accounts  79,540  81,625 

Third-party funds in transit  79,540  81,625 

Borrowings 13  219,859  349,997 

Loans abroad  219,859  349,997 

Lending obligations – Official institutions 13  21,040  3,028 

Other institutions  21,040  3,028 

Derivative financial instruments 6  12,266  3,369 

Derivative financial instruments  12,266  3,369 

Other liabilities  82,980  77,419 

Collection of similar taxes  429  150 

Foreign exchange portfolio 8  1,750  575 

Social  –  17,484 

Statutory  27,995  16,284 

Tax and social security  19,602  24,856 

Securities trading  3,694  1,527 

Allowance for financial guarantees 7 and 26  1,030  417 

Sundry  28,480  16,126 

See accompanying notes.

BALANCE SHEETS
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LIABILITIES

In R$ thousand

Note
Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Noncurrent liabilities

Long-term payables  2,183,103  1,852,803 

Deposits 10  449,144  216,839 

Interbank deposits  95  837 

Time deposits  449,049  216,002 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities 12  1,240,394  1,254,497 

Liabilities from issue of agribusiness credit bills  349,176  353,253 

Liabilities from issue of credit bills  852,289  882,583 

Liabilities from issue of real estate credit bills  38,929  18,661 

Borrowings 13  395,489  340,350 

Loans abroad  395,489  340,350 

Derivative financial instruments 6  41,001  3,818 

Derivative financial instruments  41,001  3,818 

Other liabilities  57,075  37,299 

Social  16,802 –

Statutory  8,381  7,532 

Tax and social security  14,924  11,705 

Sundry  16,837  17,941 

Allowance for financial guarantees 7 and 26  131  121 

Deferred income 27b  10,122  9,037 

Equity 16  601,247  574,913 

Capital  469,300  469,300 

Domiciled in Brazil  469,300  469,300 

Market value adjustment of securities and derivatives  48  (1,356)

Securities held for sale  48  (1,356)

Income reserves  313,738  288,808 

Treasury stock  (181,839)  (181,839)

Total liabilities and equity 6,297,562 4,976,189 

See accompanying notes.

BALANCE SHEETS
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In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Note
Second half 

of 2018
12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Financial income  247,500  583,246  525,261 

Loan transactions  142,101  286,497  268,602 

Income from marketable securities transactions 5 and 6  43,370  93,455  194,465 

Result of exchange operations 17  30,164  148,470  58,252 

Gain on derivative financial instruments 21  31,865  54,824  3,942 

Financial expenses  (149,495)  (372,232)  (364,006)

Market funding operations 17  (123,177)  (262,491)  (279,719)

Loans, assignments and onlending operations 17  (19,030)  (81,378)  (52,502)

Set up of allowance doubtful accounts 7  (7,288)  (28,363)  (31,785)

Gross financial income  98,005  211,014  161,255 

Other operating income (expenses)  (42,238)  (77,977)  (75,491)

Service revenues 18  32,748  64,496  43,090 

Personnel expenses  (38,044)  (70,852)  (66,162)

Other administrative expenses 19  (29,290)  (57,237)  (46,140)

Tax expenses  (8,134)  (15,766)  (18,911)

Income from interest in subsidiaries 9  –  –  10,842 

Other operating income  665  1,678  9,881 

Other operating expenses  (183)  (296)  (8,091)

Operating income  55,767  133,037  85,764 

Non-operating expenses  (952)  (3,860)  (2,680)

Income before income taxes and profit sharing  54,815  129,177  83,084 

Income and social contributions taxes 24  (10,434)  (26,323)  (10,799)

Provision for income tax  (4,282)  (10,814)  (10,812)

Provision for social contribution tax  (1,985)  (6,033)  (7,007)

Deferred tax asset  (4,167)  (9,476)  7,020 

Profit sharing – management and employees  (19,563)  (39,194)  (28,930)

Net income  24,818  63,660  43,355 

Earnings per share 0.12 0.31 0.21

See accompanying notes.

INCOME STATEMENT
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In R$ thousand

Capital
Income reserves

Market value 
adjustment 
of securities 

and 
derivatives

Treasury 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Total  
controllers

Noncontrolling 
interest

Total

Legal Statutory Bank

Year ended December 31, 2017

Balances at January 1, 2017 469,300  26,321 259,860  (2,954) (184,469) 568,058  5,519  573,577

Market value adjustments  
– marketable securities

 1,598  1,598  1,598

Investment sale (Note 2c)   (5,519)  (5,519)

Earn-out reversal  2,630  2,630  2,630

Net income for the year  43,355  43,355  43,355

Allocations:

 – Reserves  2,168  459  (2,627)  

 –  Interest on equity  
(R$ 0.14 per share)

 (40,728)  (40,728) (40,728)

Balances at December 31, 2017 469,300  28,489  260,319  (1,356)  (181,839)  574,913 -  574,913

Changes in the period  –  2,168  459  1,598  2,630  6,855  (5,519)  1,336

Year ended December 31, 2018

Balances at January 1, 2018 469,300  28,489  260,319  (1,356)  (181,839)  –  574,913 -  574,913

Market value adjustments  
– marketable securities

 1,404  1,404  1,404

Net income for the year  63,660  63,660  63,660

Allocations:

 – Reserves  3,183  21,747 (24,930)

 –  Interest on equity  
(R$ 0.19 per share)

(38,730) (38,730) (38,730)

Balances at December 31, 2018 469,300  31,672  282,066  48  (181,839)   601,247  601,247

Changes in the period  –  3,183  21,747  1,404  (0)   26,334 -  26,334

Balances at July 1, 2018 469,300  30,431  278,255  (1,492)  (181,839) -  594,655  594,655

Market value adjustments  
– marketable securities

 1,540  1,540  1,540 

Net income for the semester  24,818  24,818  24,818 

Allocations:

 – Reserves  1,241  3,811  (5,052)

 –  Interest on equity  
(R$ 0.10 per share)

 (19,766)  (19,766) (19,766)

Balances at December 31, 2018 469,300  31,672  282,066  48  (181,839)    601,247  601,247 

Changes in the period  –  1,241  3,811  1,540  (0)  6,592  6,592 

See accompanying notes.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF BANCO BOCOM BBM S.A.
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In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half  
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Cash flow statements

Net income  24,818 63,660  43,355 

Adjustments to net income  23,696 48,447  17,136 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  7,379 28,363  31,785 

Depreciation and amortization  2,178 3,242  1,729 

Expenses from civil, labor and tax allowances  686 1,972  2,715 

Income from interest in subsidiaries  –  –  (10,989)

Deferred income and social contribution taxes  4,167  9,476  (7,020)

Unrealized gains/losses on marketable securities and derivatives  7,746 3,990  (2,829)

Market value adjustments – marketable securities  1,540  1,404  1,598 

Equity adjustments  –  –  147 

Adjusted net income  48,514 112,107  60,491 

Decrease/(Increase) in short-term interbank investments  (105)  (208)  (295)

Decrease in marketable securities and derivative financial instruments  52,127  36,370  306,499 

Increase/(Decrease) in interbank and interbranch accounts  (15,455)  (1,753)  45,535 

(Increase) in loan and lease transactions  (431,667)  (838,646)  (1,116,713)

Increase/(Decrease) in deposits  142,478  285,690  (123,443)

Increase/(Decrease) in open market funding  526,876  492,238  (240,115)

Increase/(Decrease) in securities issue resources  (454)  503,683  1,239,042 

Increase/(Decrease) in borrowings and onlending  98,830  (56,986)  4,963 

Increase/(Decrease) in deferred income  (971) 1,085  6,910 

Decrease/(Increase) in other assets  360,283 209,276  (201,143)

Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities  (89,152) 18,238  11,141 

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities  642,790 648,987  (67,619)

Cash flow from investing activities

(Increase)/Decrease in investments  (172)  (172)  48,402 

Investment aquisition  –  –  (5,519)

Property and equipment for use and leased acquisition  (9,212)  (12,843)  (3,878)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (9,384)  (13,015)  39,005 

Cash flow from financing activities

Dividends and interest on equity paid  (16,119)  (33,604)  (20,654)

Purchases of treasury shares  0  0  2,630 

Net cash used in financing activities  (16,119)  (33,604)  (18,024)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 665,801 714,475  13,853 

At beginning of period  418,951 370,277  356,424 

At end of period  1,084,752 1,084,752  370,277 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  665,801 714,475  13,853 

Non-monetary transaction

Interest on equity  19,766 38,730  40,728 

See accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

1. OPERATIONS

Banco BOCOM BBM is the leading institution of the Prudential Conglomerate (Note 2) and is authorized 

to operate as finance bank across the following portfolios:

• Commercial

• Investment

• Loan, Financing and Investment

• Foreign Exchange

Prudential Conglomerate operates in the context of a group of institutions which operate together in 

the financial market, with certain operations involving co-participation or intermediation of associated 

institutions which are part of Banco BOCOM BBM Financial Group. The benefits from services rendered 

between such institutions and the costs of the Financial Group’s operating and administrative structures in 

common are fully or individually absorbed, on a basis that is practical and reasonable in the circumstances. 

On February 2016, the People’s Republic of China approved the transfer of the shareholding control from 

Banco BBM S.A. To the Bank of Communications Co. Ltd. and on November 2016, it was approved by 

the Central Bank of Brazil.

After the regulatory approvals, on November 30, 2016 the Bank of Communications Co. Ltd. (“BoCom”), 

acquired 80% of the total outstading common shares of Banco BBM and 80% of the total outstanding 

preferred shares of Banco BBM which, as a result, accounted for 80% of total outstanding shares of 

Banco BBM. Around 20% of the Bank’s shares continued to be held by the previous controlling group of 

Banco BBM.

On February 20, 2017, the transfer of the shareholding control was published in the “Diário Oficial” 

(Federal Government’s official journal) by the Central Bank of Brazil.

On February 2, 2018, the change of the corporate name to Banco BOCOM BBM S.A. was approved the 

Central Bank of Brazil.

2.  PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND CONSOLIDATION CRITERIA

The financial statements of the Prudential Conglomerate were prepared in accordance with the Resolution 

No. 4,280/2013, from the Brazilian National Monetary Board (CMN) and Circular Letter No. 3,701/2015 

of the Central Bank of Brazil (BACEN), which are elaborated from the accounting guidelines arising 

from the Laws No. 4,595/64 (National Financial System Law) and No. 6,404/76 (Corporation Law), 

including the amendments introduced by the Laws No. 11,638/07 and No. 11,941/09, in compliance with 

the standards and instructions from CMN, BACEN, Federal Accounting Council(CFC) and the accounting 

practices adopted in Brazil applicable to financial institutions regulated by the BACEN.

The preparation of these statements in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, 

applicable to financial institutions, requires management to use judgment in the determination and 

recording of accounting estimates, when applicable. Significant assets and liabilities subject to these 

estimates and assumptions include: provision for doubtful accounts, realization of deferred tax assets, 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

provision for labor, tax and civil claims, valuation of financial instruments and other provisions. The 

definitive values of the transactions involving these estimates will only be known at the time of their 

settlement.

The prudential conglomerate financial statements were prepared in accordance with the consolidation 

criteria stated by Resolution No. 4,280/2013 from BACEN, which includes financial institutions and other 

institutions authorized to operate by the Central Bank of Brazil.

In the consolidation process of the entities members of the Prudential Conglomerate, it was adjusted, at 

the base date, in order that the same classifications, criteria, procedures and accounting practices used 

in the lead institution are applied in the evaluation and recognition of the assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses, with the following eliminations:

•  Capital share, reserves and accumulated results held between the institutions (it also should be 
noted that there is no intercompany transactions);

•  Balances of current accounts and other Assets and/or Liabilities between the institutions, whose 
balance sheets were consolidated; and

• The effects on profit or loss arising from significant transactions between these institutions.

The Prudential Conglomerate financial statements comprise the financial statements at December 31, 

2018 and 2017 of the following institutions:

Banco BOCOM BBM S.A. and Agência Nassau

BBM Bank Ltd. (a)

BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e Valores Mobiliários S.A. (b) (c)

Bahia Fund (a)

The Southern Atlantic Investments (b)

Jiang Fundo de Investimento Multimercado Credito Privado Investimento no Exterior (b)

Haitan Fund (a)

(a)  The indirect participation of 100% of Banco BOCOM BBM in the social capital of BBM Bank Ltd. were 

eliminated from the Prudential Conglomerate.

(b)  Banco BOCOM BBM directly holds 100% of the capital of these entities. The consolidation of The 

Southern Atlantic Investments Ltd. occurred as from August 2017 and the consolidation of Jiang FIM 

CPIE occurred as from March 2018.

(c)  On February 22, 2018, the change of the corporate name of Bacor Corretora de Câmbio e Valores 

Mobiliários S.A to BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e Valores Mobiliários S.A was approved by the 

JUCESP (“Junta Comercial do Estado de São Paulo”).

2.  PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AND CONSOLIDATION CRITERIA (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

(a) Results of operations

Calculated on an accrual basis. 

(b) Marketable securities and derivative financial instruments

In accordance with BACEN Circular Letter No. 3,068, securities are classified into the following categories:

I – Trading securities;

II – Securities held for sale;

III – Securities held up to maturity.

Securities classified in categories I and II are adjusted to market value, being the adjustment of the former 

directly accounted in the result and the adjustment of the latter in specific equity account, net of tax 

effects. Securities classified as “held up to maturity” are evaluated based on the cost plus the earnings.

Derivative financial instruments are adjusted to market value, in accordance with BACEN Circular 

Letter No. 3,082.

Investment fund shares are restated monthly based on the share value disclosed by the funds 

Administrators where funds are invested. The appreciation and depreciation of investment fund 

quotas are presented in “Result from transactions with marketable securities”.

(c) Current and non-current assets

These are presented at their realization amounts, including, when applicable, the earnings and monetary 

variations (on a pro rata basis) and foreign exchange variations, less corresponding proceeds from 

future realization and/or provision for losses. Balances maturing within 12 months (or 360 days) are 

classified as current assets. 

(d) Permanent assets

These are stated at cost, plus the following aspects:

• Evaluation of the significant investments in subsidiaries on an equity accounting basis; 

•  Depreciation of property and equipment in use and lease calculated on a straight-line basis, based 
on annual rates that reflect the economic useful life of the assets, being properties in use – 4%; 
furniture and utensils – 10% and data processing – 20%;

• Amortization of intangible assets calculated according to the economic useful life of the asset. 

In accordance with CMN Resolution No. 4,534/16, financial institutions and institutions authorized to 

operate by BACEN cannot record Deferred Assets. Balances recorded as deferred assets at the date this 

resolution became effective, except for lease losses to amortize, must be: 

I –  Reclassified to the proper asset accounts, according to the operation nature, when they refer to items 

that constitute an asset, according to the effective regulation; and

II – Amortized on a straight-line basis up to December 31, 2019, in the other cases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(e) Current liabilities and long-term liabilities

These are stated at their known or calculable values including, whenever applicable, the charges and 

the monetary (on a daily pro rata basis) and exchange variations, less the corresponding expenses to be 

allocated. Balances maturing within 12 months (or 360 days) are classified as Current Liabilities.

(f) Income tax and social contribution

The provision for income tax is set up based on the taxable profit, at 15% rate, plus 10% surcharge on 

annual taxable profit exceeding R$ 240 thousand. The provision for social contribution tax is set up at 

the rate of 20%.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences were recognized in accordance 

with CMN Resolution No. 3,059 issued on December 20, 2002, and CMN Resolution No. 3.355, issued 

on March 31, 2006, and take into account the history of profitability and the expected generation of 

future taxable income supported by technical feasibility studies. The deferred taxes were constituted 

based on the expected income tax and social contribution rates of 25% and 20% respectively, since 

used while the rate is effective. 

In May 2015, Provisional Measure No. 675 was issued, amending the rate of Social Contribution on Net 

Income (CSLL) of financial institutions from 15% to 20%. According to the Provisional Measure, this rate 

increase became effect as from September 2015 and it remains in force up to December 2018.

(g) Swaps, futures, forwards and options

The nominal amounts of contracts are recorded in offsetting accounts. Daily adjustments of transactions 

conducted in the future market are recorded as effective income or expense as they are incurred. Premiums 

paid or received upon the realization of operations in the options market are recorded in the respective 

equity accounts at cost value, adjusted to market value as a counterparty to the result. The market 

value of swap and term operations are individually recorded in asset and liability equity accounts, as a 

counterparty to the respective income and expense accounts. 

(h) Earnings per share

These are calculated based on the number of outstanding shares at the balance sheet dates.

(i) Impairment of assets

In accordance with CPC 1, as approved by CMN Resolution 3,566/08 of May 29, 2008, and based on 

management’s analysis, if the book value of the assets of the Bank and others Prudential Conglomerate 

institutions exceed their recoverable value, an impairment loss is recognized in the result.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(j) Contingent assets and liabilities and legal obligations

The recognition, measurement and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and legal obligations 

are made pursuant to the criteria defined below:

Contingent assets – these are not recognized in the financial statements, except when there are evidences 

that offer guarantees of their realization, with no appeals.

Contingent liabilities – these are recognized in the financial statements when, based on the opinion of 

the legal advisors and of management, the loss of a lawsuit or administrative proceeding is evaluated as 

probable and whenever the amounts involved can be measured with sufficient reliability. The contingent 

liabilities classified as possible losses by legal advisors are not recorded and are just disclosed in the notes 

to the financial statements and those classified as remote loss do not require any provision disclosure. 

Regarding the labor suits with loss probability classified as possible by the external lawyers, management 

will consider some assumptions such as: procedure stage, involved right, losses background, deal possibility. 

Accordingly, we can have provision, even if the suits are classified as possible.

Legal obligations – tax and social security – these refer to lawsuits contesting the legality and 

constitutionality of some taxes and contributions. The discussed amount is quantified and accounted for.

(k) Short-term interbank investments

Interbank investments are stated at the acquisition, investment or release cost, plus foreign exchange, 

monetary and interest variations, as contractually defined. When the market value is lower, a provision 

for the adjustment of an asset to its realization value is made.

(l) Loan transactions

Credit operations are stated at the acquisition, investment or release cost, plus foreign exchange, 

monetary and interest variations, as contractually defined. When the market value is lower, a provision 

for the adjustment of an asset to its realization value is made. An allowance for doubtful accounts is set 

at an amount considered sufficient to cover any losses, and it considers, in addition to past experience, 

the assessment of debtors and their guarantors, as well as the specific characteristics of transactions, 

in accordance with the requirements of Brazilian Central Bank Resolution No. 2,682. These are recorded 

at present value on a daily pro rata basis, based on the index variation and the agreed-upon interest 

rate, restated up to the 59th day in arrears at the financial companies, observing the estimated receipt 

date. After the 60th day, the recognition in results occurs on the effective receipt of the installments. 

The renegotiated operations are maintained, at least, at the same level in which they were classified 

previously to the renegotiation and, if they have already been written-off against the provision, they 

are classified as level H; the gains are recognized in income upon the effective receipt.

Credit assignments without risk retention result in the write-off of the financial assets that are the 

object of the operation, which are then kept in a offsetting account. The result of the assignment is fully 

recognized when it is realized. As of January 2012, as determined by CMN Resolution 3,533/2008 and 

CMN Resolution 3,895/2010, all credit assignments with risk retention are recognized in the remaining 

terms of operations, and the financial assets subject to assignment are recorded as credit operations and 

the amount received as obligations for sales or transfer of financial assets.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

These represent cash and cash equivalents, unlinked balances with the Central Bank of Brazil and financial 

assets of high liquidity with maturities within three months, subject to an immaterial risk of changes in 

their fair values, which are used by the Group to manage short-term commitments. See Note 4.

(n) Other values and assets

The operations classified as Other values and assets represent operations arising from the execution of 

loan guarantees, which are initially valued at the remaining balance of the debt, and which are valued 

at fair value based on valuation reports prepared by professional entities with recognized qualifications, 

using evaluation techniques.

(o) Hedge Accounting

The Bank allocated derivative financial assets to hedge principal amounts raised and the corresponding 

interest due.

Derivative financial instruments used to mitigate risks arising from exposure to variations in the market 

values of financial assets and liabilities, and that are highly correlated regarding changes in its market 

value in relation to the market value of the item that is being protected, at the beginning and during 

the life of the contract and considered effective in reducing the risk associated to the exposure to be 

protected, are considered protection instruments (hedges) and are classified based on their nature:

(a)  Market risk hedge: the financial instruments classified under this category, as well as their related 

financial assets and liabilities, which are the hedge objects, are recorded at fair value and have their 

gains/losses, whether realized or not, reflected in the result; and

(b)  Cash flow hedge: the financial instruments classified in this category are marked at fair value, being 

the effective parcel of appreciation or depreciation registered, net of tax effects, in a specific account 

on equity. The ineffective portion of the respective hedge is recognized directly in the result.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, cancelled or exercised, or when the hedging position does 

not fall under hedge accounting conditions, the hedging relationship ends.

The risk management objectives of this operation, as well as the strategy of protection against such 

risks during the operation, are duly documented, as well as it is documented the evaluation, both at the 

beginning of the protection operation and on an ongoing basis, that the derivative financial instruments 

are highly effective in offsetting the variations of the fair value (mark-to-market) of the hedged item. A 

hedge is expected to be highly effective if the variation in the fair value or cash flow attributable to the 

risk being hedged during the hedge relation period nulls from 80% to 125% of the risk variation.

Derivative instruments used for hedging purposes, as well as the marked-to-market value of the hedged 

object are disclosed in Note 21.

(p) Deposits and Funding in the Open Market

The deposits and funding in the open market are recognized at the amounts of the liabilities, and the 

charges payable, when applicable, are recorded on a daily “pro rata” basis.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Interbank investments (a)  919,766  200,028 

Investments in foreign currencies  97,064  155,748 

Funds in foreign currency  67,534  14,344 

Free reserves in cash with the Central Bank  385  157 

Cash  3  – 

Total  1,084,752  370,277 

(a) Committed transactions maturing within 90 days, on the date of application.

5. SHORT-TERM INTERBANK INVESTMENTS

Short-term interbank investments are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Open market investments  919,766  200,028 

Self-funded position  919,766  200,028 

National treasury bills  419,618  – 

National treasury notes – B series  500,148  200,028 

Interbank deposits  3,466  3,258 

Investments in foreign currencies (*)  97,064  155,748 

 1,020,296  359,034 

Current assets  1,020,296  355,776 

Long-term receivables  –  3,258 

Total  1,020,296  359,034 

(*)  The investments in foreign currencies in the Prudential Conglomerate in December 2018 and 2017 basically refer to 

Overnight operations with first-tier banks.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the collateral received through repurchase agreements amounted to 

R$ 949,518 thousand and R$ 206,627 thousand respectively, in the Prudential Conglomerate. The collateral 

provided amounted to R$ 525,935 thousand and R$ 10,526 thousand during the same periods.

The results of short-term interbank investments in the Prudential Conglomerate are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Open market investments  10,500  15,394  41,055 

Investments in foreign currencies  3,300  5,246  1,708 

Interbank deposits  106  208  295 

Income from marketable securities transactions  13,906  20,848  43,058 

5. SHORT-TERM INTERBANK INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

6. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Cost Market Cost Market

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

I – Marketable securities 1,407,320 1,407,447 1,423,839 1,424,249 

Securities for trading (*) 115,086 115,112 52,130 52,283 

Own portfolio 36,755 36,781 33,945 34,098 

Fixed income securities 36,755 36,781 33,945 34,098 
Financial treasury bills  2,352  2,352  9  9 

National treasury notes – B series  34,403  34,429 33,936 34,088 

Linked to guarantees givens 78,331 78,331 18,185 18,185 

Financial treasury bills  60,261  60,261 

Fund quotas given as guarantee  18,070  18,070 18,185 18,185 

Securities held for sale (*) 689,750 689,851 778,292 778,549 

Bank portfolio 335,060 335,102 505,944 506,002 

Fixed income securities 335,060 335,102 505,944 506,002 

Financial treasury bills  164,609  164,645 319,130 319,269 

National treasury notes – B series  6,357  6,357 9,826 9,733 

Promissory note  –  –  51,477  51,477 

Debentures  164,094  164,100 125,512 125,523 

Subject to repurchase agreements 181,456 181,511 103,796 104,020 

Financial treasury bills  85,138  85,166 10,521 10,526 

Debentures  96,318  96,345 93,276 93,494 

Linked to guarantees given 173,234 173,238 168,551 168,527 

Financial treasury bills  173,234  173,238 168,551 168,527 

Securities held up to maturity 602,484 602,484 593,417 593,417 

Bank portfolio 111,630 111,630 529,993 529,993 

Fixed income securities 111,630 111,630 529,993 529,993 

National treasury notes – F series 111,630  111,630  529,993  529,993 

Subject to repurchase agreements 426,390 426,390 

National treasury notes – F series  426,390  426,390 

Linked to guarantees given 64,464 64,464  63,424  63,424 

National treasury notes – F series 64,464  64,464  63,424  63,424 

II – Derivative financial instruments 27,303 32,772 7,623 10,250 

Swap operations 16,196  20,475 7,362 9,447 

Term 3,283  4,473 261 803 

Futures 7,824  7,824 

Total marketable securities  
and derivative financial instruments

1,434,623 1,440,219 1,431,462 1,434,499 

Segregation of portfolio by maturity range

Up to 3 months 162,660 162,977 53,518 53,952 

From 3 to 12 months 25,070 25,999 56,207 57,116 

Over 12 months 1,246,893 1,251,243 1,321,737 1,323,431 

Total 1,434,623 1,440,219 1,431,462 1,434,499 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

6.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Cost Market Cost Market

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

III – Derivative financial instruments

Swap Operations 42,059 49,323 5,093 6,345 

Term 3,396 3,405 1,088  842 

Futures 539 539 

Purchased position  45,994  53,267  6,181  7,187 

Segregation by maturity range

Up to 3 motnths 6,053 6,005 2,053 1,770 

From 3 to 12 months 5,439 6,261 1,698 1,599 

Over 12 months 34,502 41,001  2,430  3,818 

Total  45,994  53,267  6,181  7,187 

The results of Marketable Securities in the Prudential Conglomerate are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Investment funds quotas 459 915 4,365 

Government bonds 19,385 52,657 119,903 

Private securities 9,620 19,035 27,139 

Income from marketable securities 29,464 72,607 151,407 

The market values of marketable securities and derivative financial instruments are determined based 

on market price quotations at the balance sheet date, when available, or through price valuation models.

(*) Securities classified as “Securities for trading” maturing in more than 12 months and which, at December 

31, 2018, amount to R$ 64,872 thousand in the Prudential Conglomerate (December 31, 2017 – R$ 34,098 

thousand), are stated in current assets, according to BACEN Circular Letter No. 3,068/01. Securities 

classified as “Held for sale”, maturing in more than 12 months, in the amount of R$ 637,810 thousand 

on December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 – R$ 710,286 thousand), in the Prudential Conglomerate, are 

stated as Long-term receivable assets, according to BACEN Circular Letter No. 3.068/01, regardless its 

liquidity level. The effect of this classification in net current capital is shown in Note 22 – Liquidity risk.
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7. LOAN TRANSACTIONS, SURETIES AND GUARANTEES

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, loans and guarantees provided through sureties or guarantee agreements 

in the Prudential Conglomerate, classified according to the clients’ economic activities, are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Sugar and ethanol 670,063 16.16% 699,814 20.60%

Agriculture 428,289 10.33% 438,089 12.89%

Building and real estate 307,580 7.42% 221,363 6.52%

Foods – sundry 247,571 5.97% 168,616 4.96%

Retail market 243,640 5.87% 184,721 5.44%

Specialized services 208,005 5.02% 115,510 3.40%

Utilities (energy) 197,149 4.75% 188,187 5.54%

Capital goods 152,127 3.67% 136,744 4.02%

Transportation and logistics 144,437 3.48% 62,814 1.85%

Textile and leathers 124,401 3.00% 85,495 2.52%

Pharmaceutics 106,495 2.57% 89,873 2.65%

Chemical and petrochemical 98,508 2.38% 82,122 2.42%

Construction material 95,035 2.29% 75,854 2.23%

Civil aviation 85,423 2.06% 60,194 1.77%

Mining 83,949 2.02% 50,140 1.48%

Diversified holdings 78,769 1.90% 13,178 0.39%

Meat industry 56,595 1.36% 27,638 0.81%

Pulp and paper 50,936 1.23% 69,703 2.05%

Others (*) 223,563 5.39% 182,115 5.33%

Private sector 3,602,535 86.87% 2,952,171 86.87%

Public 216,097 5.21% 91,356 2.69%

Oil & gas 135,808 3.27% 131,678 3.88%

Utilities (energy) 109,483 2.64% 181,950 5.36%

Water and sewage concessions 50,201 1.21% 11,044 0.33%

Others (*) 32,973 0.80% 29,171 0.86%

Public sector 544,562 13.13% 445,199 13.13%

Total 4,147,097 100% 3,397,370 100%

(*) The activities classified within Others include all economic sectors that individually represent less than 1% of

the total active loan portfolio at the base date of December 31, 2018.
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Loans transactions are stated in the Prudential Conglomerate balance sheet as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Current assets

Loan transactions 1,648,152 1,250,645 

Private sector 1,500,947 1,189,055 

Public sector 147,205 61,590 

Other receivables 14,602 36,476 

Foreign exchange portfolio – receivables (a) 9,537 15,563 

Securities and credits receivable 5,065 20,913 

Noncurrent assets

Loan transactions 1,612,148 1,220,020 

Private sector 1,387,046 991,678 

Public sector 225,102 228,342 

Other receivables 2,361 6 

Securities and credits receivable 2,361 6 

Current liabilities

Other liabilities 307,009 524,498 

Foreign exchange portfolio – Advances on exchange contracts (a) 307,009 524,498 

Subtotal 3,584,272 3,031,645 

Co-obligations and risks in guarantees provided (b) 562,825 365,725 

Total 4,147,097 3,397,370 

(a)  The Advances on Exchange Contracts are classified as reduction accounts of Other Liabilities – Exchange Portfolio 

and as Other Receivables – Exchange Portfolio, respectively, as shown in Note 8.

(b)  These refer to guarantees granted through sureties and guarantees. The granted guarantees are recorded in 

offsetting accounts and the respective earnings are classified as Results for Future Years and appropriated to the 

result according to the guarantees’ contractual terms. 

The provision for loan transactions was calculated according to the criteria established by the CMN 

Resolutions No. 2,682 and 2,697, based on the risk classification of the transactions and on their 

level of arrears.

7. LOAN TRANSACTIONS, SURETIES AND GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)
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The classification of the loan transactions in the Prudential Conglomerate is as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Overdue – days Falling due – days

Risk 
level

Within 
14 

 15 to 
60

 61 to 
90

 91 to 
180

 181 to 
360

Within 
90

 From 91 
to 180

 From 181 
to 360

 Over 360 
days Total PDD Total PDD

AA      360,437  174,254  500,132 685,503 1,720,326  1,116,030 

A  79      188,282  239,148  406,974 713,411 1,547,894  7,739 1,422,844 7,114

B  1,839  9,920        95,310  151,222  252,694 200,455  711,440  7,114  594,250 5,943

C  794          13,391  40,769  38,782  35,849  129,585  3,888  176,981 5,309

D

E                2,361  2,361  4,722  1,417  11,700 3,510

F    20,888 11,628

G  115  116  115 185 1,656 2,069 2,004 14,554  20,814  15,637  31,776 23,571

H    1,703 5,132 1,532 3,949    12,316  12,316  22,901 22,901

Total  2,827  11,739  115  185 5,132 659,076 608,994 1,206,896 1,652,133 4,147,097 48,111 3,397,370 79,976

The allowance below is presented in the Prudential Conglomerate balance sheets as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Allowance for loan losses 40,021 60,668 

Current assets 22,293 37,949 

Noncurrent assets 17,728 22,719 

Provision for other credits 6,929 18,770 

Securities and credits receivable 4,113 14,003 

Current assets 3,405 14,003 

Noncurrent assets 708 

Provision for advances on exchange contracts 2,816 4,767 

Current assets 2,816 4,767 

Noncurrent assets 0 

Provision for co-obligations and risks in guarantees provided 1,161 538 

Current liability 1,030 417 

Noncurrent liability 131 121 

Total 48,111 79,976 

7. LOAN TRANSACTIONS, SURETIES AND GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)
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Changes in allowances are as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Balance at January 1 79,976 68,163 

Set up/(reversal)  28,363  31,797 

Write-offs to loss  (60,228)  (19,984)

Total 48,111 79,976 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, loan transactions were renegotiated in the Prudential 

Conglomerate in the amount of R$ 13,691 thousand (for the year ended December 31, 2017, no loan 

transaction was renegotiated).

For the year ended December 31, 2018, there was a recovery of losses on loan transactions in the amount 

of R$ 10,952 thousand (for the year ended December 31, 2017 – R$ 753 thousand).

The breakdown of sales or transfers of assets without the substantial retention of risks and rewards in 

the periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Number of contracts 5 22 

Assignment amount  3,556 25,637 

Provision net book value 4,333 25,038 

Revenue from assignments  (777)  599 

The credit risk concentration in the Prudential Conglomerate statements is as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 % 12/31/2017 %

Top debtor 135,808 3.3% 131,678 3.9%

Top 10 debtors 1,039,004 25.1% 816,634 24.0%

Top 20 debtors 1,604,590 38.7% 1,287,098 37.9%

Top 50 debtors 2,618,125 63.1% 2,133,335 62.8%

Top 100 debtors 3,478,539 83.9% 2,914,920 85.8%

7. LOAN TRANSACTIONS, SURETIES AND GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)
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The breakdown of the Prudential Conglomerate credit portfolio by type is as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Working capital 1,718,898 1,562,365 

Trade finance 379,239 586,293 

Export credit notes 740,750 457,299 

Co-obligations and risks in guarantees provided 562,825 365,725 

Others 745,385 425,688 

Total 4,147,097 3,397,370 

8. FOREIGN EXCHANGE PORTFOLIO

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Other receivables – foreign exchange portfolio

Foreign exchange purchases pending settlement  322,914  543,006 

Rights on foreign exchange sales  1,074  577 

Income receivable from advances granted (a)  9,537  15,563 

Total 333,525 559,146 

Other payables – foreign exchange portfolio

Foreign exchange sales pending settlement  1,070  575 

Exchange purchase obligations  307,689  524,498 

Advances on foreign exchange contracts granted (a)  (307,009)  (524,498)

Total 1,750 575 

(a) See Note 7

On December 31, 2018, the Company made deposits of federal government securities securing 

foreign exchange transactions with B3 in the amount of R$ 66,525 thousand (December 31, 2017 – 

R$ 66,651 thousand).

7. LOAN TRANSACTIONS, SURETIES AND GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)
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9. INVESTMENTS – INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

In R$ thousand

Income from interests in subsidiaries

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

The Southern Atlantic Investments Ltd. (a)  –  – 11,060 

Others (b)  –  –  (218)

Total  –  –  10,842 

(a)  On February 23, 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM requested authorization from the Central Bank of Brazil to consolidate 

The Southern Atlantic Investments Ltd. (SAI), its non-financial subsidiary abroad in the elaboration of the financial 

statements of the Prudential Conglomerate, CADOC (4060). In August 2017, the Central Bank of Brazil, based on 

the assumption provided by the article 8 of the Resolution No. 4,280/2013, accepted the request, determining the 

inclusion of the company in the Prudential Conglomerate.

(b)  In the “Other” income, in the Prudential Conglomerate, the subsidiaries’ equity variations are presented, which are not 

eliminated, such as foreign exchange variation of foreign investments.

10. DEPOSITS 

In R$ thousand

Maturity range Time deposits
Interbank 
deposits

Total 
12/31/2018

Total 
12/31/2017

Within 1 month 48,540  0 48,540 201,556 

From 1 to 3 months 328,690 253 328,943 245,605 

From 3 to 6 months 228,435 131 228,566 120,815 

From 6 to 12 months 70,354 1,881 72,235 84,410 

More than 12 months 449,049 95 449,144 216,839 

Subtotal 1,125,068 2,360 1,127,428 869,225 

Cash deposits 115,372 87,885 

Total 1,242,800 957,110 

The average term of interbank and time deposits, for outstanding transactions at December 31, 2018 is 

802 days and 514 days (December 31, 2017 – 525 and 374 days), respectively.

60



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

In R$ thousand

Maturities upon issuance
Time  

deposits
Interbank 
deposits

Total 
12/31/2018

Total 
12/31/2017

Within 1 month 2,543  – 2,543 1,196 

From 1 to 3 months 200,219  – 200,219 169,756 

From 3 to 6 months 313,748  – 313,748 213,310 

From 6 to 12 months 75,418  – 75,418 166,911 

More than 12 months 533,140 2,360 535,500 318,052 

Subtotal 1,125,068 2,360 1,127,428 869,225 

Cash deposits 115,372 87,885 

Total 1,242,800 957,110 

The breakdown per segment of the Prudential Conglomerate is as follows:

In R$ thousand

Demand deposits Time deposits Interbank deposits Total

12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Legal entities  97,085  71,359  255,201  208,336 – – 352,286 28.35% 279,695 29.22%

Institutional 

customers
 4  4 –  32,876  1,619 – 1,623 0.13% 32,880 3.44%

Group  397  76  717,337  567,278 –  5,694 717,734 57.75% 573,048 59.87%

Financial  

institutions
 –  1  151,599  33,739  741  13,183 152,341 12.26% 46,923 4.90%

Individuals  17,886 16,445  931 8,119 – – 18,816 1.51% 24,564 2.57%

Total 115,372 87,885 1,125,068 850,348 2,360 18,877 1,242,800 100% 957,110 100%

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Top depositor 515,875 41.51% 177,238 16.40%

Top 10 depositors 1,013,703 81.57% 579,128 53.60%

Top 20 depositors 1,087,473 87.50% 740,043 68.49%

Top 50 depositors 1,189,888 95.74% 926,632 85.76%

Top 100 depositors 1,236,301 99.48% 1,031,347 95.45%

10. DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
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11. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS 

The obligations from repurchase agreements in the Prudential Conglomerate are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Own Portfolio  596,084  103,846 

Financial treasury bills  85,021  10,500 

National treasury notes – F series  415,093  – 

Debentures  95,970  93,346 

Total 596,084 103,846 

12.  FUNDS FROM ACCEPTANCE AND ISSUE  
OF SECURITIES AND REAL ESTATE BILLS

On December 31, 2018 and 2017, fundraising through Agribusiness Credit Bills (LCA), Housing Credit 

Bills (LCI), Financial Bills (LF) were segregated by maturity range as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

LCA (a) LCI (b) LF (c)

Maturity 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Within 1 month  130,051  74,324  7,423  970  87,430  3,239 

From 1 to 3 months  181,844  68,557  30,810  10,462  138,085  5,704 

From 3 to 6 months  299,185  247,890  5,135  242  77,601  123,371 

From 6 to 12 months  387,730  464,773  13,656  20,376  338,715  159,970 

More than 12 months  349,176  353,253  38,929  18,661  852,289  882,583 

Total  1,347,986  1,208,797  95,953  50,712  1,494,120  1,174,866 

(a)  Agribusiness Credit Bills (LCA) are issued by the Bank and registered with the B3, according to the Law No. 11,076/2004 and Law 

No. 11,311/2006 and subsequent amendments.

(b)  Housing Credit Bills (LCI) are nominative securities created by Provisional Measure No. 2,223 on September 4, 2011, which resulted in 

Law No. 10,931 of August 2, 2004.

(c)  Financial Bills (LCA) are issued by the Bank and registered with the B3 – according to the Law No. 12,249/10 (Section II, articles 37 

to 43), and ruled by CMN (Law No. 3,836).
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13. BORROWINGS AND ONLENDINGS

a) Borrowings abroad

Borrowings abroad in the Prudential Conglomerate are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Obligations with borrowings abroad (*)  395,489  593,971 

Export credit facility  203,217  92,346 

Import credit facility  16,642  4,030 

 615,348  690,347 

Current liabilities  219,859  349,997 

Long-term payables  395,489  340,350 

 615,348  690,347 
(*) The amount of R$ 395,489 thousand on December 31, 2018, classified as Borrowings Abroad, refers to the fundraising 

in U.S. dollars with Bank of Communications with final maturity in September 2022 (on December 31, 2017, the amount of 

R$ 593,971 thousand refers to fundraising operations in U.S. dollars with the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and 

Bank of Communications).

On February 7, 2018, Banco BOCOM BBM pre settled the US dollar funding operation with the International 

Finance Corporation (IFC), in the amount of R$ 248,668 thousand, due in December 2019. Additionally, 

the entire Hedge assembled structure for this operation has been discontinued. 

In spite of the early settlement of the loan with the International Finance Corporation (IFC), the Bank 

has pre-export credit lines with that institution on which financial covenants are required. The amount 

used for these credit lines totals R$ 46,805 thousand as of December 31, 2018 and the restrictive rates 

are fully complied with. 

b) Onlendings in the country

Banco BOCOM BBM has funding line operations with resources from the Fund for Defense of the Coffee 

Economy (Funcafé) for coffee growers, their cooperative and the agribusiness companies to use for 

storage and acquisition of coffee and working capital, as following:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Within  
1 month

From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to 
6 months

From 6 to 
12 months

More than 
12 months

Total Total

Funcafé – FAC  –  –  756  756  –  1,512  2,010 

Funcafé – Working 

capital

 –  –  9,764  9,764  –  19,528  1,018 

Total  –  –  10,520  10,520  –  21,040  3,028 
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14. OTHER RECEIVABLES/SUNDRY 

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Sundry

Debtors deposits on warranty  51,904  47,011 

Taxes and contributions to offset  18,341  13,830 

Securities and credits receivable (*)  7,426  964 

Sundry debtors – domestic  4,626  6,494 

Sundry debtors – foreign  2,433  1,091 

Advances – salaries and constructions  292  396 

 85,022  69,786 

Current asset  29,755  17,818 

Long-term asset  55,267  51,968 

Total  85,022  69,786 

(*) Refers to Advances on Foreign Exchange Contracts written off in the period. 

15. OTHER VALUES AND ASSETS

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Other values and goods  

Properties 40,020 37,334

Others 104 949

40,124 38,283 

Current asset (a) 40,124 38,283

Total 40,124 38,283 

(a)  In December 2018, the amount of R$ 40,020 thousand, classified as current assets, refers mainly to the execution of 

guarantee of properties, recorded as properties not for own use (BNDU), according to independent appraisal report.   
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16. EQUITY

(a) Capital – Banco BOCOM BBM S.A.

The capital is comprised of 282,201,085 registered shares with a par value of R$ 1.60 each, divided into 

188,626,652 common shares and 93,574,433 preferred shares.  Each common share is entitled to 1 (one) 

vote in resolutions of the General Meeting.  Preferred shares have no voting rights.

(b) Legal reserve

This reserve is calculated at the rate of 5% of the net income at each balance sheet date, up to the limit 

determined by the Corporation Law of 20% of Capital.

(c) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the articles of incorporation, this reserve represents the remaining balance of net 

income at each balance sheet date, after the legal allocations.

(d) Treasury stock

In August 2017, R$ 2,630 thousand were reversed to the price complement of the shares repurchased 

by the treasury on March 28, 2011. In the earn out contract, the purchaser (Banco BOCOM BBM) took 

on the future obligation of paying to the buyer, throughout 72 months from the signature date, an 

amount calculated based on the revenue earned with the recovery of a specific loan transaction, 

determined in this contract. This obligation was extinct in this period.

On December 31, 2018, Banco BOCOM BBM has 76,296,769 shares to hold in treasury in the amount 

of R$ 181,839 thousand.

(e) Interest on equity

According to article 9 of Law No. 9,249/95 and its subsequent amendments, Banco BOCOM BBM S.A., 

at the end of the year 2018, declared interest on equity of R$ 38,730 thousand (December 31, 2017 – 

R$ 40,728 thousand), with the retention of withholding income tax of R$ 5,810 thousand (December 31, 

2017 – R$ 6,109 thousand), calculated at the rate of 15%.  This amount was determined based on the legal 

limits in force and classified in the group’s official records as “Other Operating Expenses”.

For the purposes of the publication of the statement of income, as established by BACEN Circular 

Letter No. 2,739, the expense related to the payment of interest on equity capital was adjusted by 

a reclassification to retained earnings and recognized in the statement of changes in equity as an 

allocation of income. 

Interest on equity proposed at the end of the year 2018 reduced tax burden by R$ 17,429 thousand 

(December 31, 2017 – R$ 18,328 thousand). 
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(f) Carrying value adjustments

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the carrying value adjustments are comprised by the market 

adjustment variation of the securities held for sale in the amount of (R$ 87 thousand) (December 31, 2017 

– R$ 142 thousand), by the variation of the cash flow hedges in the amount of R$ 0 thousand (December 

31, 2017 – (R$ 1,491 thousand)), by the variation of foreign investments hedging instruments in the amount 

of (R$ 5,884 thousand) (December 31, 2017 – (R$ 471 thousand)), by the foreign exchange variation in 

investment abroad in the amount of R$ 5,884 thousand (December 31, 2017 – R$ 465 thousand), net of 

tax effects.

(g) Dividends

In accordance with the Bank’s articles of incorporation, the shareholders are entitled to minimum mandatory 

dividends of 25% of net income for the year, after specific allocations.

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Net income – Banco BBM S.A.  63,660  43,355 

(-) Legal reserve  (3,183)  (2,168)

Calculation basis  60,477  41,187 

Minimum mandatory dividends (a) 25% 25%

 15,119  10,297 

Interest on own capital (b)  38,730  40,728 

Total  38,730  40,728 

(a) Minimum mandatory dividends were approved as interest on equity.  

(b)  The dividends higher than the mandatory dividends were approved by the shareholders and will be ratified in 

Ordinary General Meeting.

16. EQUITY (CONTINUED)
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17.  FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION EXPENSES  
AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS (LOSSES)

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Open market funding

Financial bills  (55,413)  (105,263)  (78,347)

Agriculture credit bills  (38,252)  (77,031)  (82,241)

Expenses with securities abroad  (13,651)  (41,068)  (6,962)

Time deposits  (20,277)  (36,513)  (67,567)

Repurchase agreements  (3,660)  (6,880)  (38,985)

Real estate credit bills  (2,856)  (4,931)  (3,911)

Credit guarantee fund  (1,162)  (2,437)  (2,591)

Interbank deposits  (124)  (504)  (4,711)

Deposits previous notice  (87)  (169)  (34)

Foreign exchange variation (a)  12,305  12,305  5,630 

 (123,177)  (262,491)  (279,719)

Loans, assignments and onlending operations

Loan expenses abroad  (18,511)  (12,182)  (31,462)

Foreign exchange variation (a)  (208)  (68,817)  (21,011)

Other expenses  (311)  (379)  (29)

 (19,030)  (81,378)  (52,502)

Foreign exchange transactions

Foreign exchange variations and interest differences  17,230  39,578  40,778 

Revenue from Advances on Exchange Contracts (ACC)  13,252  109,493  17,878 

Other expenses  (318)  (601)  (404)

 30,164  148,470  58,252 

(a)  This substantially represents the effects of foreign exchange variations on loans raised by the Bank from its branch abroad 

through the transfer of funds raised in foreign currency.
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18. SERVICE REVENUE

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate
Second half 

of 2018
12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Service revenue

Structuring commission  10,147  21,222  10,116 

Management and performance fees of investment funds  7,600  14,824  11,289 

Guarantees commision and letter of credit  7,316  14,447  9,866 

Other services (*)  7,685  14,003  11,819 

Total 32,748 64,496 43,090 

(*) This refers mainly to revenue from bank fees.

19. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

 In R$ thousand 

 Prudential Conglomerate 
Second half 

of 2018
12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Data processing  (3,669)  (6,763)  (3,601)

Rentals  (3,488)  (6,761)  (6,315)

Third-party services  (2,099)  (4,858)  (4,306)

Travel  (2,689)  (4,838)  (4,009)

Financial system services (a)  (2,535)  (4,574)  (6,920)

Specialized technical services  (2,997)  (4,241)  (2,899)

Fines (b)  (305)  (4,008)  (130)

Other administrative expenses  (1,921)  (3,428)  (4,346)

Amortization and depreciation  (2,178)  (3,242)  (1,729)

Registry  (738)  (3,146)  (3,549)

Communications  (1,648)  (3,134)  (2,434)

Property maintenance and upkeep  (1,921)  (2,788)  (1,551)

Promotion/advertising/publications  (1,122)  (1,881)  (1,393)

Condominium  (1,042)  (1,824)  (1,485)

Water, energy and gas  (503)  (972)  (845)

Transportation  (316)  (574)  (435)

Material  (90)  (158)  (126)

Surveillance and security services  (13)  (27)  (24)

Insurance  (16)  (20)  (43)

  (29,290)  (57,237)  (46,140)

(a)  For the year ended December 31, 2018, this includes brokerage expenses, charges and commission related to guarantee 

transactions and derivative financial instruments of R$ 1,775 thousand. (December 31, 2017 – R$ 5,110 thousand).

(b)  For the year ended December 31, 2018, the amount of R $ 3,651 thousand, refers to expenses with pre-settlement of the contract 

with IFC.
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20. RELATED-PARTIES SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS

a)  The transactions between related-parties were carried out using the average rates practiced by the 

market, effective on the operations dates, as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Asset

Cash and cash equivalents 30 

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. 30 

Liabilities

Demand deposits 764 4,397 

Évora S.A. 64 13 

Bahia AM Renda Fixa Ltda. 5 

Bahia AM Renda Variável Ltda. 5 

Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda. 301 4,014 

Bahia Holding S.A. 6 

Other related individuals/legal entities 383 370 

Interbank deposits 5,694 

BBM Administração de Recursos DTVM S.A. 5,694 

Time deposits 201,462 567,279 

Bahia Holding S.A. 69,850 

Évora S.A. 3,219 3,130 

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.  431,857 

Bahia Fund 132,292 

Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda. 38,516 

Other related individuals/legal entities 89,877 

Repurchase agreements – debentures 37,256 32,122 

Other related individuals/legal entities 37,256 32,122 

Agriculture credit bills 275,647 294,651 

Other related individuals/legal entities 275,647 294,651 

Real estate credit bills 67,020 30,417 

Other related individuals/legal entities 67,020 30,417 

Liabilities on loans abroad 391,451 340,350 

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. 391,451 340,350 

Dividends and bonuses payable 16,802 17,484 

Interest on capital credited to shareholders 16,802 17,484 
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In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Result

Open market funding  (21,311)  (37,155)  (35,665)

Repurchase agreements – debentures expenses  (555)  (788)  (738)

Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda.  (5)  (5)  – 

Other related individuals/legal entities  (550)  (783)  (738)

Interbank deposits expenses  –  –  (418)

BBM Administração de Recursos DTVM S.A.  –  –  (418)

Time deposits expenses  (10,772)  (18,787)  (7,420)

Évora S.A.  (94)  (10)  (278)

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.  (6,108)  (10,677)  (2,009)

Bahia Fund  –  –  (5,133)

Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda.  (775)  (976)  – 

Bahia Holding S.A.  (2,218)  (5,547)  – 

Other related individuals/legal entities  (1,577)  (1,577)  – 

Financial bills  –  –  (82)

Other related individuals/legal entities  –  –  (82)

Agriculture credit bills expenses  (8,106)  (14,657)  (22,823)

Other related individuals/legal entities  (8,106)  (14,657)  (22,823)

Real estate credit bills expenses  (1,877)  (2,923)  (2,463)

Other related individuals/legal entities  (1,877)  (2,923)  (2,463)

Loans expenses abroad  (15,780)  (76,259)  (27,963)

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.  (15,780)  (76,259)  (27,963)

Expenses with banks abroad  (2,238)  (2,238)  (1,252)

BBM Bank Ltd.  (2,574)  (3,531)  (1,175)

BBM Nassau Branch  336  336  (77)

Expenses with dividends and bonuses  (19,766)  (38,730)  (40,728)

Interest on capital credited to shareholders  (19,766)  (38,730)  (40,728)

Total  (59,095)  (154,382)  (105,608)

The transactions between related-parties were carried out at the average rates practiced by the market, effective 

on the transactions dates.

20. RELATED-PARTIES SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
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b) Key management compensation 

The total compensation will calculated as follows:

I) Fixed and variable compensation  

The total compensation of the Participants will be comprised of fixed and variable part. The variable 

compensation of the Participants will be paid as follows: 

(a)  The amount equivalent to, at most, 50% (fifty percent) of the variable compensation will be 

paid in cash, immediately available for the Participant (“Short-term compensation”); and 

(b)  The amount equivalent to, at least, 50% (fifty percent) of the variable compensation will be 

deferred for payment within 3 (three) years, considering the provisions below (“Deferred 

Compensation” together with “Short-term Compensation” and “Variable Compensation”). 

The minimum and maximum amounts of the Variable Compensation of the Participants will be fixed 

by the Administrative Council of Banco Bocom BBM.

II) Deferred compensation

The payment of the deferred Compensation will be carried out on a scaled basis, every six months, 

in shares proportional to the deferral period (“Deferred Compensation Shares”), and all the deferred 

shares should be updated by the ROE of the Banco Bocom BBM. 

ROE is the profit for the period before tax divided by the Equity at the beginning of the period.

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Liabilities

Statutory  14,329  10,175 

Management variable compensation  – short-term  5,103  3,878 

Deferred management variable compensation – long-term  9,226  6,297 

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Result  (11,287)  (22,911)  (18,489)

Fixed compensation  (5,201)  (10,031)  (8,812)

Variable compensation  (6,086)  (12,880)  (9,677)

20. RELATED-PARTIES SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
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21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank and the other institutions of the Prudential Conglomerate participate in transactions involving 

derivative financial instruments to meet their own needs as well as on behalf of their clients. 

Derivative financial instruments are classified according to management’s intent at the inception of the 

transaction, taking into consideration whether or not the purpose is to hedge risks.

In accordance with BACEN Circular Letter No. 3,082, the derivative financial instruments assigned to 

offset, in whole or in part, exposure to risks from assets, liabilities, commitments or projected future 

transactions (hedged items), since they are considered effective in reducing the risk associated with the 

exposure to be hedged, are classified according to their nature:

These transactions are traded, recorded or held on B3.  In the Prudential Conglomerate, international 

derivatives transactions are traded and recorded in the OTC market, at the Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) 

or Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME).

The criteria used to calculate the market values of the derivative financial instruments are:

• Futures: value of daily adjustments to the transactions;

•  Swap and term transactions: Cash flow is estimated for each part discounted to present value according 
to the corresponding interest rate curves, obtained based on B3 prices or on the assets’ prices;

•  Options: average trading price on the calculation date or, when not available, estimated price based 
on pricing models, such as Black & Scholes.

At December 31, 2018, the guarantees for the transactions involving derivative financial instruments 

are represented mainly by government securities in the total amount of R$ 170,976 thousand 

(December 31, 2017 – R$ 166,400 thousand and fund quotas in the total amount of R$ 9,033 thousand 

(December 31, 2017 – R$ 9,000 thousand).
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a) Recorded in offsetting and equity accounts

The commitments arising from these financial instruments, recorded in offsetting accounts, on 

December 31, 2018, within maturity up to January 2023 (December 31, 2017 – up to January 2023) 

are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

 Up to  
3 months 

 From 3 to 
6 months 

 From 6 to 
12 months 

 More than   
1 year 

 Total   Total 

Future market

Purchased position

Foreign exchange coupon  1,329,379  5,743  65,994  649,490  2,050,607  1,090,560 

Interest rate  27,486  985  16,285  355,682  400,438  258,905 

Foreign currency  678,752  –  –  –  678,752  306,701 

IPCA  –  –  –  18,673  18,673  16,880 

Commodities – – – – –

Sold position

Foreign exchange coupon  1,923  1,918  167,761  686,113  857,716  466,809 

Interest rate  74,970  51,626  47,657  123,053  297,305  120,557 

Foreign currency  445,700  –  –  –  445,700  240,792 

IPCA  –  208,695  –  38,929  247,624  398,035 

Non-deliverable forward – NDF

Asset position

Currency  616,482  17,348  17,492  –  651,323  8,245 

Liability position

Currency  475,886  –  50,405  –  526,291  1,506 

Swaps

Asset position

Interest rate  –  – 187,692 480,826  668,518  5,222 

Liability position

Interest rate 40,518 21,900 424,110 294,224  780,752  8,897 

21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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b) At cost and market value

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Cost Market
Up to  

3 months 
From 3 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months 

More than 
1 year

 Total 

Future market

Purchased position  7,824  7,824  7,824 – – –  1,673,046 

Sold position  539  539  539 – – –  1,226,194 

Swaps

Asset position  16,196  20,475  4,668  –  4,857  10,949  5,222 

Liability position  42,060  49,324  3,345  657  4,321  41,001  8,897 

Non-deliverable forward – NDF

Asset position  3,283  4,474  2,836  285  1,352  –  8,245 

Liability position  3,396  3,405  2,121  –  1,284  –  1,506 

c) Notional value per counterparty

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Financial 
institutions

Related- 
parties

Legal 
entities

Stock 
exchanges

Institutional 
customers Individuals  Total Total

Future market

Purchased position 3,148,470 3,148,470 1,673,046 

Sold position 1,848,345 1,848,345  1,226,194 

Swaps

Asset position –  668,518  668,518  5,222 

Liability position –  780,752   780,752  8,897 

Non-deliverable forward – NDF

Asset position  589,397  57,269  4,658  651,323  8,245 

Liability position  396,768  129,272  251  526,291  1,506 
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The futures market includes the following positions maturing on the first business day of the 

subsequent month:

•  Purchased foreign exchange coupon contracts (DDI) in the amount of R$ 2,050,607 thousand 
(December 31, 2017 – purchased foreign exchange coupon (DDI) in the amount of R$ 180,356 
thousand);

•  Sold foreign exchange coupon contracts (DDI) in the amount of R$ 857,716 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – sold foreign exchange coupon (DDI) in the amount of R$ 0 thousand);

•  Purchased interest contracts (DI1) in the amount of R$ 394,038 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – R$ 4,498 thousand);

•  Sold interest contracts (DI1) in the amount of R$ 297,305 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – R$ 39,979 thousand);

•  Purchased currency contracts (DOL) in the amount of R$ 678,752 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – Purchased currency contracts (DOL) in the amount of R$ 1,654 thousand);

•  Sold currency contracts (DOL) in the amount of R$ 445,700 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – Sold currency contracts (DOL) in the amount of R$ 182,767 thousand);

•  Purchased currency contracts (DAP) in the amount of R$ 18,673 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – R$ 0 thousand);  

•  Sold currency contracts (DAP) in the amount of R$ 247,624 thousand  
(December 31, 2017 – R$ 0 thousand).

Net gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments are as follows: 

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

Second half 
of 2018

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Futures contracts  17,994  48,622  1,836,939 

Options contracts  (133)  (31)  (1,852,996)

Swap and term contracts  14,004  6,233  19,999 

Total  31,865  54,824  3,942 

d) Hedge accounting 

Fundraising hedge (I)

At September 30, 2014, Banco BBM made a loan transaction to provide long-term funding for use in 

transactions with agribusiness customers, structured by three counterparties, one of which is responsible 

for 50% of the funds provided, and the other two for 25% each, maturing in 2019 (for two of them, of 

50% and 25%) and 2017 (the remaining 25%), amounting to USD 100,000 thousand payable subject to 

half-yearly post-fixed interest at six-month LIBOR plus 2.70% p.a. and six-month LIBOR plus 2.40% p.a., 

respectively.  Furthermore, in addition to the half-yearly payments, 1% commission is payable on the total 

notional value plus an annual fee of USD 35 thousand.
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This loan allowed Banco BOCOM BBM to have a disbursement option until March 2016 and, based on 

the transaction structure, the first withdrawal, of USD 10,000 thousand, took place on December 30, 

2014 and the second, of USD 90,000 thousand, occurred on August 18, 2015 Up to this date, Banco 

BOCOM BBM has entered into a cash flow hedge transaction against the risks arising from exposure 

to variable interest rates and future cash flow, for this purpose, a swap transaction was entered into, 

receiving the variable interest rate of the transaction and paying a fixed interest rate, both levied on 

the amount of the principal of the transaction denominated in US Dollars. This results in a fixed cash 

flow in US Dollars.  In order to peg this cash flow to the CDI, a series of foreign exchange coupon 

transactions were performed with BMF, in accordance with the maturities and exposures of the respective 

agreements, all designated as hedges.  The cash outlays were in US Dollars and, upon cash receipt, a 

market risk hedge was contracted, designating derivative financial instruments entirely for hedging 

purposes, considering the foreign exchange exposure risk as well as the market funding conditions 

prevailing abroad. With a view to equalizing the effects of the marking-to-market of derivative financial 

instruments designated as hedges, the amount of the hedge principal, plus interest due, is stated at 

fair value and also marked to market.

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows, and hedge derivatives results are gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 101.07% on December 2017. In 2018, management decided to 

discontinue this hedge. 

Fundraising hedge (II) 

During the 3rd quarter of 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM entered into loan contracts in US dollars with the 

Bank of Communications Shangai Branch, in order to provide funding. On September 6, 2017, in the 

amount of USD 35,000 thousand, with payment of interest fixed in 2.05% p.a. On September 11, 2017, 

in the amount of USD 35,000 thousand, with payment of interest fixed in 2.05% p.a. On September 

18, 2017, in the amount of USD 30,000 thousand, with payment of interest fixed in 2.06% p.a. 

In order to peg this cash flows to the CDI, a series of foreign exchange coupon transactions were 

performed with BM&F, in accordance with the maturities and exposures of the available FRC contracts 

and the maturity of the operations. The cash outlays were in US Dollars and, upon cash receipt, a market 

risk hedge was contracted, designating a derivative financial instruments portfolio, comprised of DDI, 

DOL and ED contracts for total hedge, considering the foreign exchange exposure and interest rates 

risks.  With a view to equalizing the effects of the marking-to-market of derivative financial instruments 

designated as hedges, the amount of the hedge principal, plus interest due, is stated at fair value and 

also marked to market. 

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows, and hedge derivatives results are gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 106.10%.
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Fundraising hedge (III) 

In June 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM designated a derivative financial instruments portfolio constituted by DI1 

and DAP contracts in order to peg to CDI a portion of its fundraising portfolio indexed to the IPCA. With a 

view to equalizing the effects of the marking-to-market of derivative financial instruments designated as 

hedges, the amount of the fundraisings indexed to IPCA is stated at fair value and also marked to market.

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows, and hedge derivatives results re gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 109.53%.

Loan transactions hedge  

In August 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM designated a derivative financial instruments portfolio constituted 

by future contracts in U.S. Dollar and Euro in order to hedge the U.S. Dollar short-term interest rate 

variations.  In order to equalize the effects of the marking to market of the derivative financial instruments 

assigned as hedge, the amount of USD 29,761 thousand from the loan transaction released in August 

2017 by Banco BOCOM BBM Nassau Branch, with interest rate fixed in 4.28% p.a., is stated at fair value 

and also marked to market. 

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows and hedge derivatives results are gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 103.81%. 

In November 2018, Banco BOCOM BBM designated a derivative financial instruments portfolio constituted 

by future contracts in U.S. Dollar and Euro in order to hedge the U.S. Dollar short-term interest rate 

variations.  In order to equalize the effects of the marking to market of the derivative financial instruments 

assigned as hedge, the amount of USD 32,500 thousand from the loan transaction released in August 

2017 by Banco BOCOM BBM Nassau Branch, with interest rate fixed in 5.00% p.a., is stated at fair value 

and also marked to market. 

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows and hedge derivatives results are gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 89.71%. 

Investment hedge abroad

In September 2016, CMN edited the Resolution No. 4,524, establishing the criteria to record the transactions 

with financial instruments contracted in order to mitigate the risks associated to the foreign exchange 

exposure of the investments abroad.

In January 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM assigned a derivative financial instruments portfolio constituted 

by DI1 and DOL contracts, with the purpose of hedging the foreign exchange rate risk of its investment 

abroad in the amount of USD 5,000,000, which is consolidated in the Prudential Conglomerate. 

Due to the fact that the hedge object flows and hedge derivatives results are gathered, the effectiveness 

of the transaction remained close to 100%.
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22. RISKS MANAGEMENT

Market risk

Banco BOCOM BBM was a pioneer in terms of quantifying market risk in Brazil, and developed a proprietary 

system in 1997 which became a benchmark for the industry.  The market risk management structure 

includes the following: a) the Executive Board, responsible for reviewing risk management policies and 

proposing risk management operating limits, submitting these for the approval of the Board of Directors 

at least once a year; b) the Board of Directors, which approves the risk policies and limits at least once a 

year; c) the Market Risk area, subordinated to the Risk Officer, is responsible for identifying, measuring, 

monitoring and reporting online to the Executive Board the Bank’s market risk, ensuring compliance with 

the market risk management policy, as well as guaranteeing that operational limits are observed; d) the 

Price department, which among other duties is responsible for defining the price models and sources 

used in mark-to-market adjustments of traded products, independently of management departments; e) 

Internal Audit, which is responsible for ensuring the adequacy of procedures and the consistency between 

market risk management policies and the structure actually implemented.

The market risk is monitored through daily calculations of the Value at Risk (VaR), a statistical tool that 

measures the institution’s maximum potential loss at a given confidence level over a given investment 

horizon.  A VaR limit is established, which may be allocated by the Chief Treasury Officer among the 

various risk factors.  The VaR calculation model is submitted to periodical back testing.  Furthermore, 

scenarios are analyzed daily, and these scenarios are quarterly defined by the Risk Committee, 

independently of the management departments. A full description of the Bank’s market risk management 

structure is available on Banco BOCOM BBM’s website (www.bancobocombbm.com.br).

*VaR = Maximum potential risk, given the level of reliability and the investment scenario. For Banco BBM, 

the limit is established based on a 95% likelihood of loss at a maximum of 2% of equity in 1 day.

Liquidity risk

Banco BOCOM BBM’s liquidity target is to ensure that at any given time the Bank has sufficient 

cash to meet all its liabilities and other commitments. It is the responsibility of the Liquidity Risk 

area to monitor whether there is a sufficient free cash position to guarantee the continuity of the 

bank’s operations in a severe stress scenario, following the limits and guidelines defined by the Risk 

Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Liquidity risk is managed based on cash flow forecasts, considering different scenarios for funding, 

loan and treasury operations. These cash flow analyses take into consideration: (a) the implicit risk of 

each client, (b) possible additional cash for compulsory deposits, (c) derivative adjustments; and (d) 

other existing obligations.  The general principle is to ensure that the Bank’s commitments are aligned 

with its equity and the current policies for fundraising, credit and treasury.

Banco BOCOM BBM has a liquidity risk management structure comprised of the following agents, 

with their respective assignments: a) Liquidity Risk area, subordinated to the Risk Director, which is 

responsible for centralizing and measuring the information referring to liquidity risk management, 

ensuring that operational limits are observed and disclosing reports to support decision making on 

liquidity risk; b) Internal Audit, which is responsible for ensuring the adequacy of the procedures 
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and the consistency between the liquidity risk management policies and the effectively implemented 

structure.  A full description of the Bank’s liquidity risk management structure is available on the 

website of Banco BOCOM BBM (www.bocombbm.com.br).

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Current assets  3,345,385  2,364,487 

Current liabilities  (3,503,090)  (2,539,435)

Working capital, net  (157,705)  (174,948)

Short-term securities available for sale 

presented in long-term receivables

 637,810  710,286 

480,105 535,338 

Credit risk

Banco BOCOM BBM has a credit risk management structure comprised of the following elements 

and respective duties: a) the Credit Committee, responsible for defining credit limits of the economic 

groups and for monitoring and evaluating the consolidated portfolio position, its concentration and risk 

level.  It is also responsible for establishing the terms for solving default on credit operations or with a 

certain level of deterioration of the guarantees and deciding whether or not to initiate judicial collection 

proceedings, as applicable; b) Board of Directors, responsible for approving the risk policies and limits, 

at least once a year; c) Credit Risk area, subordinated to the Risk Director, is responsible for centralizing 

and evaluating information related to the individual and consolidated credit risk management, per 

operation, ensuring that operating limits are complied with, disclosing reports facilitating decision 

making related to credit limits approved by the Credit Committee. It is also the responsibility of the 

risk area to previously evaluate new operational genres related to credit risk; d) Credit Analysis area, 

responsible for assessing the credit risk of economic groups with which the Bank maintains or intends 

to maintain credit relationships; e) Internal Audit, which carries out periodic audits of the business units 

and of the Credit processes of the Group; f) Legal Department, responsible for analyzing the contracts 

entered into by Banco BOCOM BBM and its clients, as well as coordinating measures to recover credits 

or protect the Bank’s rights; and g) Contracts Department, responsible for checking the adherence of 

operations to the parameters established in the Credit Limit Proposal (“PLC”), as well as the making of 

adequate guarantees.  It is also responsible for issuing contracts to be entered into by Banco BOCOM 

BBM and the client.  A full description of the credit risk management structure is available on the website 

of Banco BOCOM BBM  (www.bocombbm.com.br).
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Operational risk

Banco BOCOM BBM has implemented an operational risk management structure based on market best 

practices and in compliance with the regulatory requirements in force.  The structure is documented in the 

internal manual “Policy on Operational Risk Management” which defines the methodology, management 

process, roles and responsibilities, categories, information storage and documentation procedures, and 

also the disclosure process in order to ensure the transparency of management activities.

The Operational Risk Department is an independent organizational unit segregated from the Internal Audit 

department, subordinated to the Chief Internal Control, Capital and Risk Officer.  This area is responsible 

for working with the other components of the operational risk structure to ensure the compliance with 

the guidelines established by the mentioned Policy.  A full description of the operational risk management 

structure is available on the website of Banco BOCOM BBM (www. bocombbm.com.br).

Capital management

Banco BOCOM BBM manages its capital through a structure composed of the following bodies:  Board 

of Directors, Executive Board, Internal Control, Capital and Risk Board, Treasury Board, Fund Raising 

Board, Back Office, Business Units and Audit Board.  The Board of Directors is the highest body within 

this structure, in charge of monitoring the capital adequacy.  The Executive Board must review the 

documents to be submitted to the Board of Directors, as well as approving the methodologies to be used 

for the management and monitoring of the capital adequacy.  Capital management and centralization is 

the responsibility of the Capital and Risk Board, which must continuously work to improve and oversee 

the institution’s compliance with the capital management policy and its capital plan.  The Treasury and 

Fundraising Boards are responsible for planning the issuance of equity instrument, if necessary.  The 

capital management department periodically generates reports on the capital adequacy, which are sent 

to the Executive Board and the Board of Directors. 

These reports comprise simulations of severe events and extreme market conditions.  The Business 

Units must provide all information that the Internal Control, Capital and Risk Board deems necessary for 

effective capital management.  The Audit department is responsible for evaluating, from time to time, the 

effectiveness of the capital management process.  The description of the capital management structure 

is available on the website of Banco BOCOM BBM (www.bocombbm.com.br).
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23. OPERATING LIMITS

In October 2013, the new rules related to capital measurement became effective. The financial institutions 

and similar entities have to maintain minimum equity of 8.625% of their assets, weighted by grades of risk 

to expositions in gold, foreign exchange and operations subject to the operating risk and to the variations 

in: foreign exchange, interest rate, price of commodities and price of shares classified as held in portfolio 

for trade, according to BACEN’s rules and instructions. The Prudential Conglomerate of Banco BOCOM 

BBM is within this operational limit on December 31, 2018.

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Reference equity level I 576,753 559,804

Ajusted equity (*) 601,253 576,411

Decrease in intangible/deferred assets according to CMN Resolution No. 4,192 24,500 16,606

Reference equity (PR) 576,753 559,804 

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 344,288 322,429 

Portion referring to:

Credit risk (RWACPAD) 304,769 283,835 

Foreign exchange risk (PCAM) 7,563 968 

Interest rate risk (RWAMPAD) 1,378 14,055 

Operating risk (RWAOPAD) 30,578 23,571 

Margin or insufficiency value (PR – RWA) 232,465 237,375 

Risk factor – 8.625% of PR 49,745 51,782 

Basel rate (Risk factor/RWA) 14.45% 16.06%

RBAN 80,255 72,470 

ACP required 74,845 87,143 

Reference equity margin + RBAN 77,365 77,762 

(*) This does not consider losses of equity valuation adjustments of cash flow hedge.
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24. INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION

Changes in tax credits and provision for deferred taxes on temporary differences are as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Asset credit tax  

Balance at January 1  76,036 78,076 

Constitution (reversal)

– With effects in the result  (9,476) 7,020 

– With effects in equity

(Securities held for sale)  3,554 (1,014)

– Credit assignment/write-off of tax debits  226 (8,046)

Balance at December 31 70,340 76,036 

Provision for deferred taxes (*)

Balance at January 1  12,371 11,456 

Constitution (reversal)

– With effects in the result  8,666 1,002 

– With effects in equity

(Securities held for sale)  (111) (87)

Balance at December 31 20,926 12,371 

(*) The amount of provision for deferred taxes is recorded as Other tax and social security obligations.
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The breakdown of tax credits and provision for deferred taxes is as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Asset tax credit

Temporary differences (a)

– Provision for loan transactions 37,171 42,550 

– Market value adjustment – marketable securities and derivatives 8,623 7,442 

– Provisions for contingencies (Note 25a) 3,595 3,334 

– PIS/COFINS (Note 25b)  – 127 

– Others 7,617 4,846 

Social contribuition negative basis 3,958 6,013 

Tax loss 9,376 11,724 

Total 70,340 76,036 

Provision for deferred taxes

Temporary differences (a)

– Market adjustment of securities and derivatives 60 116 

– Others 20,866 12,255 

Total 20,926 12,371 

(a)  It is expected that these tax credits will be realized up to the end of 2023 for income tax and social contribution, 

with a present value of R$ 27 million and R$ 16 million, respectively.  The social contribution on the tax credits was 

calculated considering the new effective rate (15%).

In December 2017, Banco BOCOM BBM, Assignor, entered into a credit assignment agreement with the 

Assignee, BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e Valores Mobiliários S.A., arising from tax losses and negative 

basis regularly constituted due to tax assessment of 2013, mainly considering the accounting impact of 

the adhesion, by the Assignor, to the payment in installments ruled by the Law No. 12,865 of October 

9, 2013 and by the PGNF/RFB Joint Ordinance No. 8 of October 18, 2013. With the Provisional Measure 

No. 783 of May 31, 2017 and the RFB Normative Instruction No. 1,711 of June 16, 2017, which established 

the Tax Regularization Special Program, to which the Assignee adhered in order to settle the tax debits 

through the Social Contribution negative basis.
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The conciliation of the expense calculated using the tax rates and the expense of income tax and social 

contribution accounted for in the Bank is as follows:

In R$ thousand

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

IRPJ CSLL IRPJ CSLL

Income before taxes  42,686  42,686  12,831  12,831 

Bank’s net profit 63,660 63,660  43,355  43,355 

(-) Interest on Bank’s Capital  (38,730) (38,730) (40,728) (40,728)

(-/+) Income tax and social contribution  (17,756)  (17,756)  10,204  10,204 

Tax rate 25% 20% 25% 20%

Income tax and social contribution

At tax rate  (10,671)  (8,537)  (3,208)  (2,566)

Permanent additions 53,744 40,865  53,617  43,940 

Non-deductible expenses 15,394 2,515  10,391 714 

Addition on profit abroad 38,350 38,350  43,227  43,227 

Permanent exclusions 44,725 44,725  38,544  38,544 

Tax-free revenues 10,648 10,648  32  32 

Equity in the result of subsidiaries 34,077 34,077  38,511  38,511 

Temporary additions/exclusions  (26,230) (23,301)  30,880  33,326 

Tax basis  25,475  15,524  58,785  51,554 

Utilization of tax loss and negative basis  (7,642)  (4,657)  (17,635) (15,466)

Tax basis with usage of tax loss and negative basis  17,832  10,867  41,149  36,088 

Income tax and social contribution (a)  (4,434)  (2,173) (10,263)  (7,218)

Utilization of tax incentives  
and taxes of subsidiaries abroad

 219 663  

Income tax and social contribution  
in the result for the year

 (4,215)  (2,173)  (9,600)  (7,218)

DIPJ adjustment  7  10  –  – 

Liability deferred taxes  (5,598)  (3,046)  (1,192)  223 

Income tax and social contribution  
in the result for the year – Banco BOCOM BBM

 (9,806)  (5,210)  (10,792)  (6,995)

Income tax and social contribution  

of other institutions of the Prudential Conglomerate

 (1,008)  (823)  (20)  (12)

Income tax and social contribution 
in the result for the year – Prudential Conglomerate

 (10,814)  (6,033)  (10,812)  (7,007)

(a)   In May 2015, Provisional Measure No. 675 was issued, amending the rate of Social Contribution on Net Income (CSLL) 

of financial institutions from 15% to 20%. According to the Provisional. Measure, this rate increase became effect as 

from September 2015 and it remains in force up to December 2018. 
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25. PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES FOR LEGAL OBLIGATION

The Bank and the Prudential Conglomerate are a party to lawsuits and administrative proceedings 

arising from the normal course of operations, involving tax, labor and civil matters among others.

a) Breakdown of provisions

Based on information from its legal counsels and an analysis of the pending legal and civil proceedings 

and labor suits, considering previous experience related to the claimed amounts, management recorded 

a provision in an amount considered sufficient to cover the estimated losses expected in connection with 

ongoing litigation, as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Labor 8,325  7,109 

Civil 633  464 

Total – Provisions for contingencies 8,958 7,573 

These provisions are recorded as “Other liabilities – sundry” under Long-term liabilities. During the 

period ended December 31, 2018, the amount of R$ 587 thousand was translated and the amount of 

R$ 1,972 thousand of the provisions for contingencies was constituted in the Prudential Conglomerate. 

b) Liabilities for legal obligations

Based on a preliminary injunction issued on April, 2018, Bank BOCOM BBM and BOCOM BBM Corretora 

de Valores Mobiliários S.A. have ensured the exclusion of ISS (a municipal tax levied on services) from the 

taxable basis of Social Integration Program Contribution (PIS/Pasep) and Contribution for Social Security 

Financing as well as the reimbursement of the values already paid along with future compensations 

whenever applicable. Consequently, Bank BOCOM BBM and BOCOM BBM Corretora de Valores Mobiliários 

S.A. adjusted the calculation method of aforesaid Social Contribution disregarding the municipal tax 

from its respective taxable basis and have acknowledged a current liability up to December, 2018, 

comprehending in “Other Sundry Obligations” under Long-term liabilities, as follows:

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Social Integration Program (PIS)  

and Social Contribution on Revenues (COFINS)

 29  – 

Total – Liabilities for legal obligations  29  – 

85



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

c) BM&FBovespa Demutualization 

In December 2013, Banco BOCOM BBM and BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e Valores Mobiliários 

S.A. adhered to the program of payment/payment in installments of debits before Federal Revenue 

Secretariat (SRF), the National Treasury General Attorney’s Office (PGFN) and the Brazilian National 

Social Security Institute (INSS), established by the Law No. 11,941/2009, amended by Law No. 12,865/2013 

(“REFIS”), in order to settle the debits discussed in administrative procedures and tax enforcements, 

enjoying the benefits of decrease of fine and interest related to tax assessment notices issued by the 

Brazilian Federal Revenue in December 2011, with the purpose of: (i) income tax and social contribution 

taxation on the reserve of equity securities of BM&FBovespa, due to demutualization of the mentioned 

entities and (ii) PIS and COFINS taxation on the capital gain in the sale of the mentioned securities. 

It is worth mentioning that only Banco BOCOM BBM adhered to the program for the purpose of PIS 

and COFINS taxation, remaining the discussion for the company BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e 

Valores Mobiliários S.A.

In August 2017, BOCOM BBM Corretora de Câmbio e Valores Mobiliários S.A. adhered to the Tax 

Regularization Special Program (PERT), in order to settle debits discussed in administrative procedures 

and tax enforcements, related to PIS and COFINS, of the demutualization of BM&FBovespa. It resulted 

in a provision of R$ 6,783 thousand.

d) Others

On December 5, 2016, Banco BOCOM BBM S.A. was named by the Brazilian Administrative Council for 

Economic Defense (CADE) in an administrative proceeding investigating alleged anticompetitive practices 

in relation to the onshore foreign exchange market between 2008 and 2012.  The Bank, together with its 

legal counsels, is in the process of making defense arguments.
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26. ALLOWANCE FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Allowance for doubtful in account related with financial guarantees are based on the analysis of 

operations according to the type of obligation provided, past experience, future expectations and 

management’s risk assessment policy.  They are reviewed periodically, as established by CMN Resolution 

No. 4,512/2016. 

In R$ thousand

Prudential Conglomerate

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Guarantee

Linked to international trade 3,053 301 

Linked to bids, auctions, service render or construction 180,939 146,885 

Surety or guarantee in lawsuits and administrative procedures 256,526 165,267 

Other sureties 122,068 53,272 

Total 562,586  365,725 

Changes in allowance for financial guarantees

Beginning balance 538 14,611

Constitution 15,381 3,700 

Reversal (*)  (14,758)  (17,773)

Ending balance 1,161 538 

(*) Refers to the reclassification of the provision of external credit operations, transferred to the group of the provision 

for credit operations.
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27. OTHER INFORMATION

(a) Compensatory and settlement of obligations arrangement

Banco BOCOM BBM has a compensatory and settlement of obligations arrangement within the 

scope of the National Financial System, according to CMN Resolution No. 3,263/05, resulting in more 

guarantee to settle its debits with financial institutions with which it has this kind of arrangement.  

On December 31, 2018, the total assets mitigated by compensatory arrangement was of R$ 810,442 

thousand (December 31, 2017 – R$ 518,613 thousand).

(b) Result for future years

Result for future years refers mainly to the earnings of guarantees granted (Note 7(b)) and its increase 

in the period ended December 31, 2018 is aligned with the variation of the guarantees. 

(c) Marketable securities portfolio

On February 26, 2018, based on the Resolution No. 3,181 of the Central Bank of Brazil,  considering the 

positive incline of the government bonds nominal rates, mainly that the nominal rate of the NTNF 01/2023 

was around 80 basis points higher than NTNF 01/2021, that the nominal rate of the NTNF 01/2023 was 

around 9.16% and that for our budget and business plan for the next years, it is important to be able to 

foresee and to avoid decrease in the revenues, the Executive Board of Banco BOCOM BBM unanimously 

approved to begin the process to increase the nominal securities portfolio held to maturity, selling R$ 

316,003,385.10 in NTN-F 01/2021 and purchasing R$ 316,040,126.10 in NTN-F 01/2023, which had an effect 

of R$ 10,580 thousand in the result, registered in “Income from marketable securities transactions”.

At the end of the period, Banco BOCOM BBM had R$ 602,484 thousand in marketable securities classified 

as “held to maturity”, according to Circular Letter No. 3,068 of Central Bank of Brazil. Banco BOCOM 

BBM has financial capacity and intention to hold them to maturity.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 30, 2019, Banco BOCOM BBM raised R$ 200,000 thousand through the issuance of perpetual 

and subordinated financial letters, with repurchase option from 5 years on (semiannual windows, upon 

authorization from the Central Bank of Brazil). On the issuance date, the Bank filled a request with Central 

Bank, applying to use the issued amount as complementary capital, in order to compose Tier I capital of 

the institution (request under analysis). It was a private placement within the Bank’s shareholders.

Aline Gomes – Controller

CRC 087.989/0-9 “S”– BA
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